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Financial Highlights
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

2005

2004

2003

Sales
Operating profit
Income (a)
Diluted earnings per share (a)

$7,656
$1,293
$ 732
$ 2.22

$6,594

$5,613

$1,103

$ 922

$ 697

$ 585

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

Adjusted income (a,b)
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (a,b)

$ 824
$ 2.50

$ 697

$ 585

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

$1,475
$ 877
13.2%
21.9%

$1,243

$1,137

$ 668

$ 983

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

OTHER INFORMATION AND RATIOS

Cash flow from operations
Capital expenditures (c)
After-tax return on capital (d)
Return on equity (d)
(a)

12.5%

12.8%

20.8%

21.6%

Income and earnings per share amounts are before the 2005 cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.

(b)

Adjusted amounts exclude a $92 million, or $0.28 per diluted share, income tax charge for the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax adjustments
(see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements). Management believes these non-GAAP measures help investors understand underlying performance on a comparable basis.

(c)

Capital expenditures for 2003 include the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

(d)

After-tax return on capital and return on equity are non-GAAP measures defined and reconciled in the Appendix on page 70.

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

SALES
$7,656
$6,594

2

2004

(a,b)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

$2.50

$1,475

2005

2003

AFTER-TAX RETURN ON CAPITAL (c)
12.8% 12.5% 13.2%

$1,243

$2.10
$1,137

$1.77

$5,613

2003

•
•

Reported
Adjusted

2004

2003

2005

2004

2005 SALES BY
BUSINESS SEGMENT

2005 SALES BY
DISTRIBUTION METHOD

America 59%
• North
South
America
• Europe 14%14%
• Asia 7%
•
• Surface technologies 6%

Packaged Gases (cylinders) 33%
• Merchant
(delivered liquids) 30%
•On-Site
(includes non-cyrogenic) 26%
• Surface
technologies 6%
• Other
• 5%

2005

2003

2004

2005

2005 SALES BY
MARKETS SERVED

& Beverage 7%
3%
• Food
• Aerospace
Healthcare 11%
11%
•
• Chemicals
7%
• Manufacturing 21%
• Electronics
• Energy 12% Other •12%Metals 16%
•

To Our Shareholders
Praxair performed extremely well in 2005. Our business model and
our employees worldwide again demonstrated extraordinary resilience
in the face of market volatility, increased energy prices, aberrant
weather and an intense competitive environment. The year 2005
presented some mighty challenges for business generally and Praxair
in particular.
Our goal is to generate a good return for our shareholders no matter
what the circumstances. So I am pleased our total shareholder return
increased to 22% for the year, exceeding the performance of many
key financial market indicators. This can only be achieved while
delivering products, technologies and services of value to our global
customers. So we continued to do just that. Our sales grew 16% and
our pipeline of new business projects expanded substantially.
Our total shareholder return increased to 22% for the year, exceeding the performance of many key financial
market indicators…Our sales grew 16% and our pipeline of new projects expanded substantially.

The results described in this report were not easy to achieve.
They required Praxair’s people to concentrate intensely on serving
our customers; to find paths around business obstacles; to think
“out-of-the-box” and yet remain grounded in reality. They required
ingenuity in finding new, undeveloped markets and astutely applying
new technological developments and applications. Mostly, they came
from hard, smart, relentless work.
Success also demanded discipline. The discipline to operate safely and
ethically; to zero-in on those markets where we can execute crisply
and be excellent; to insist on good returns on our capital; to ceaselessly
improve productivity and manage costs; and to nurture a long-term
business perspective while maximizing short-term results.
So here is a brief, selective, review of some of the ways we served
our customers and grew our business during 2005:
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Higher energy prices don’t have many upsides, but they do make
previously uneconomical gas and oil fields more attractive for
drilling. As a result, the energy sector accounted for much of
Praxair’s growth during the year. Demand increased for our nitrogen
and carbon dioxide to pressurize reservoirs of natural gas trapped
in oil sands, shale or coal beds in the U.S. and Canadian Rockies.
Existing oil fields are also candidates for enhanced oil recovery
(EOR) techniques. In this sector, we signed a major, 15-year contract
with the Mexican state oil company, Petroleos Mexicanos (Pemex)
to supply nitrogen for EOR in the 33-year-old Samaria oilfields
in southeastern Mexico. Current sales in the oil and gas production
market are about $260 million a year, and are expected to grow
about 25% per year over the next four or five years.
The energy sector accounted for much of Praxair’s growth during the year. Demand increased for our nitrogen and
carbon dioxide used to pressurize reservoirs of oil and natural gas, and demand for Praxair’s hydrogen is expected to
grow about 20% per year along the U.S. Gulf Coast.

Praxair’s hydrogen pipeline complex on the U.S. Gulf Coast
continues to deliver high reliability for customers and high
return on capital for Praxair. Hydrogen enables petroleum refiners
to reduce the sulfur content of gasoline and diesel fuel required
by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. During the year,
we reached agreement to build a new plant to supply two Valero
refineries in Texas. Demand for Praxair’s hydrogen in the region
is expected to increase by more than 20% per year through 2010.
In fact, it was the strength of our energy-related businesses that
enabled Praxair to compensate for lower oxygen sales to steel
companies during the year as well as the temporary reduction in
demand from customers hit hard by the two severe hurricanes in
the Gulf Coast region. Praxair’s facilities suffered relatively minor
damage in the storms.
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To Our Shareholders

THE OFFICE OF THE CHAIRMAN (FROM RIGHT) DENNIS H. REILLEY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
RICARDO S. MALFITANO, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, STEPHEN F. ANGEL, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
AND JAMES S. SAWYER, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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To Our Shareholders
Healthcare sales worldwide were up 19%, reflecting the increased
demand for medical gases as well as respiratory and other services
by both hospitals and home care patients. Margins in the U.S.
have been reduced by lower government reimbursements, but our
business leaders continued to take steps to minimize this impact.
Overall, demand in this substantial market is expected to grow as
populations age and more healthcare is shifted from the hospital
to homes.
In China, Praxair is a leading supplier to petrochemicals, electronics and steel companies in the important industrial
corridors around Beijing, Nanjing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

Asia – particularly China and India – continues to enjoy strong growth
rates with the result that many world-class manufacturers are locating
plants there to serve both local and global markets. Praxair is well
positioned in these countries, as well as in South Korea and Thailand.
Currently Praxair has 16 major projects in China, with six scheduled
to start up over the next two years. We completed construction of a
plant that will supply a giant $4 billion petrochemical complex in
Guangdong province, a joint venture between Shell Petrochemicals
Company and China National Offshore Oil Corporation. Praxair is
a leading supplier to petrochemicals, electronics and steel companies
in the important industrial corridors around Beijing, Nanjing,
Shanghai and Guangzhou.
India’s upgrading of its civil and industrial infrastructure continues
to gain momentum and Praxair is already participating strongly
in this market. Praxair opened a new oxygen plant to supply Tata
Steel in Jamshedpur and signed a new contract with Hospet Steels,
further solidifying our position as a leading supplier to steel, glass,
petrochemicals and other Indian manufacturers. Late in the year,
Praxair also won two major contracts to supply oxygen to steel
complexes in northeastern India.

6

European sales for Praxair jumped to more than $1 billion in 2005,
fueled largely by the smooth and rapid integration of our acquisition
of industrial gases assets in Germany late in 2004. With our wellestablished business in Spain, Italy and Benelux, we now have a
stronger and expanded presence in Western Europe.
In South America, our operations continue to support a high-return,
high-growth and strong cash-generating business. Sales increased
across all market sectors, and good pricing strategies helped offset
cost inflation. In addition, about 40% of our South American
contracts are priced to protect us from currency exposure. This year
we expect significant growth in Brazil arising from our decision to
enter the exciting adjacent market of liquefied natural gas (LNG)
in a joint venture with Brazil’s state-owned oil company, Petrobras.
Our first LNG plant will start up in the first quarter, and Praxair
will begin distributing LNG by truck to numerous industries and
consumers who previously had no access to this clean energy source.
How we conduct our business is just as important as our financial
results. Just after year-end, Praxair was named the most “shareholder
friendly” among specialty chemical companies in an Institutional
Investor magazine survey. This recognition is based on accessibility
and forthright communication as well as on stock price appreciation,
financial performance and good governance. In addition, we earned a
fourth consecutive top governance rating from GovernanceMetrics
International in 2005 – one of only four companies out of more than
3,000 worldwide to achieve the top score in four consecutive cycles.
We were also chosen as a component of the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index for the third consecutive year, recognizing Praxair’s leadership
in a number of social, environmental and economic activities.
In safety, Praxair turned in a good performance, although we did not
match last year’s lowest-ever injury and accident rates. During the
year, a Praxair Distribution facility in St. Louis, Missouri, suffered a
major fire. Following our rigorous emergency procedures, all of our
7

To Our Shareholders
employees evacuated the site without any injuries. We regret this
incident, and have reviewed all of our procedures in order to prevent
such an event in the future.
Praxair’s board of directors has provided me and my management
team with excellent support and wise counsel throughout the year
and I thank each one for their dedication to the company. I also
want to welcome our new board member, José Paulo de Oliveira
Alves, former chief executive officer of the U.S. operation of one of
Brazil’s leading steel producers, Companhia Siderugica Nacional.
His international business experience and extensive knowledge of
South American markets is already providing valuable insight to
the company.
Effective March 1, I have appointed Steve Angel, formerly executive
vice president, to the position of president and chief operating officer
of the corporation. He will also be nominated to stand for election
to the board. Steve has made an outstanding contribution to Praxair’s
success in recent years and possesses exceptional leadership skills.
As I look forward to another year of strong business performance,
I am well aware that our global businesses will constantly face the
unexpected. Energy prices will continue to bounce; government and
environmental regulations will change; some industries will flounder
while others thrive; competition will intensify everywhere; and
Nature itself can produce random and dramatic surprises.
But Praxair is resilient. Our business model is robust. Our people
are fast and flexible, and able to achieve exceptional results across
the globe. Operating safely, ethically and with deep integrity, we
will move faster and more boldly in 2006.

DENNIS H. REILLEY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
MARCH 1, 2006
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Review of Operations
There are three basic elements of Praxair’s business model that contribute to our ability to grow, and grow
profitably: a diversity of end markets; differentiated terms of trade; and sophisticated logistics and supply
systems that ensure the reliability of supply essential to our customers.
Praxair’s industrial end markets include oil refining and production, healthcare and electronics, food
and beverage and manufacturing – a portfolio which brings both stability and growth to our business.
Geographically, we focus on those countries where we can maintain a strong market position. In virtually
all of these markets, our sales grow faster than the market itself because we offer not only gases, but
applications technologies and services that help our customers operate more efficiently and at lower cost.
At the same time, disciplined capital expenditures and rigorous attention to productivity improvement
and cost management allows us to retain maximum value from these increased sales.
Second, terms of trade differentiate industrial gas suppliers from commodity companies in the chemicals
industry. A substantial portion of our business is conducted under long-term (10 years to 15 years),
take-or-pay contracts with clauses that provide protection against increases in electricity and energy costs
or currency fluctuations.
Third, although our products do not represent a major cost to most of our customers, they are critical to their
operations. This means that reliability is key in their choice of supplier. A semiconductor fab will shut down
if it doesn’t have enough nitrogen; a hospital cannot afford interruptions to its oxygen supply; safety in many
industrial plants requires a constant supply of nitrogen. As a large supplier with an extensive network of
highly efficient production and distribution systems designed to meet varying customer requirements, Praxair
has the ability to supply product where it’s needed and when it’s needed, every time. This was demonstrated
in 2005 when supplies of liquid hydrogen were disrupted by Hurricane Katrina. Praxair was able to quickly
increase production and flexibly adjust its distribution systems in order to both continue to meet demand from
our existing customers while making additional supply available to companies caught short. Customers are
willing to pay for the value that this kind of reliability brings.
When Hurricane Katrina disrupted liquid hydrogen supplies, Praxair was able to quickly increase production and
adjust its distribution systems to meet demand from existing customers and make additional supply available to
companies caught short.
A STRONG AND RESILIENT BASE BUSINESS

Our business in North America faced down a multitude of challenges in 2005, finishing the year with a 12%
increase in sales and operating profit up 10%. Our North American Industrial Gases organization overcame
a precipitous decline in oxygen demand from steel customers beginning in the second quarter, skyrocketing
energy costs and a number of unplanned customer shutdowns – all before two hurricanes severely affected
business along the U.S. Gulf Coast. The team moved quickly to offset these factors with good cost management,
excellent pricing strategies and energetic new business development, particularly in the oil and gas production
market. Praxair suffered temporary and minor damage from the hurricanes, and customers are steadily recovering.

9

Existing fields

Higher oil and gas prices have generated significant new business for Praxair in North America as previously uneconomical
oil and gas fields are being drilled. Praxair’s nitrogen and carbon dioxide, injected into new or existing wells, pressurize and
fracture geological formations to bring oil and gas to the surface. During 2005, Praxair gained new business in this market
in California and in the U.S. and Canadian Rocky Mountain region. Another important example is our enhanced oil recovery
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Enhanced recovery

project with Pemex, Mexico's government-owned oil company. Praxair is building two air separation plants to supply
nitrogen that will help increase yields of desirable low-sulfur crude oil still trapped beneath the Samaria fields in
southern Mexico. Pemex expects to recover an additional 470 million barrels of light crude oil and 540 million cubic
feet of natural gas through 2018. Praxair’s operations are expected to begin in early 2007.
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Traditional business

Praxair Distribution, Praxair’s North American cylinder-gases business, is exploring a new channel to market —“big
box” retail stores that reach small contractors and industry, home-improvement customers and hobbyists through
its cylinder-exchange program for welding and cutting gases. In the U.S., 40 Home Depot stores in the Dallas-Fort
Worth, Texas, area and seven stores in Puerto Rico have been offering Praxair welding gases for more than a year.
In an expansion of the program, new Praxair cylinder kiosks are being installed at Home Depot stores in Minnesota,
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Expanding channels

Ohio and Pennsylvania with the goal of operating at 125 to 150 stores by year-end 2006. In Canada, Praxair welding
and cutting gases are distributed through Home Depot in the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan, and through TSC
Stores Ltd. in Ontario. At retailers in six Canadian provinces, we also have an exclusive agreement with Blue Rhino,
the leading propane tank exchange vendor in North America. Propane tanks are used widely with backyard grills.
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Review of Operations
Sales of cylinder gases in North America significantly outpaced overall growth in industrial production
during 2005, and topped $1 billion, or 10% above 2004 sales. Our success is attributable to innovative
marketing programs (see page 12) across metal fabrication and specialty-gases markets. During the year,
Praxair Distribution opened a new, state-of-the-art facility to supply industrial, medical and specialty gases
to customers in the industrial area around the Houston Ship Channel. The business also signed a long-term
agreement to supply Air Canada with dry ice for food-preparation facilities at seven international airports
in Canada.
At year-end, Praxair Distribution expanded into a new geography by acquiring the packaged gas business of
Constar LLC of Norcross, Georgia, and its affiliates. This business has 10 facilities in Georgia, Tennessee and
South Carolina with revenues of about $34 million. The acquired business joins 14 other Praxair Distribution
divisions and three joint venture companies throughout the U.S. and Canada, and complements four other,
smaller, acquisitions made over the past year.
Sales in Europe were up 30% and operating profit up 23%, benefiting primarily from the strong performance
of our expanded business in Germany which offset slower growth in Spain and Italy. Integration of this new
business was achieved faster and with more cost synergies and greater sales growth than were envisioned at the
time of the acquisition. This included completion of construction of a new air separation plant on one of our
pipeline systems which started up in October (see page 16). As part of a region-wide cost-reduction effort, our
two joint-venture companies in Italy are taking steps to integrate sales and administrative functions in order
to eliminate duplicate operations and reduce costs.
A combination of rigorous cost controls and good price management allowed our South American team to
increase sales 30% and operating profit 33%. In Brazil, White Martins will complete construction of a liquefied
natural gas plant early in 2006. The plant, in Sao Paulo state, is part of a joint venture with the state-owned
oil company, Petrobras, for the commercialization and distribution of liquefied natural gas to Brazilian locations
that are not currently supplied by pipelines. White Martins has a 60% interest in the venture and Petrobras the
remaining 40%. Natural gas is liquefied using a cryogenic process and its distribution requires the same kind
of logistics that are currently provided by White Martins when delivering other industrial gases like oxygen
and nitrogen.
Praxair Surface Technologies engineered a solid turnaround, increasing sales by 6% and operating profit by
41% over 2004 levels. This performance reflects higher demand for industrial and aviation coatings and good
pricing management, along with significantly improved operational efficiencies and cost-reduction efforts.
GROWTH PLATFORMS

With a strong base business underpinning our performance, Praxair is concentrating additional resources
on four markets that we feel will generate above-average growth in the years ahead: energy, electronics,
Asia and healthcare.
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While our own costs have been impacted by the rising cost of energy, it has also opened up many new
opportunities for growth. First, across all of our markets, our technologies help customers improve their
energy efficiency, freeing up supplies of natural gas and other fuels. Second, we are assisting customers in
oil and gas production to increase the yield of new and existing fields that may not have been economical
a few years ago. Finally, Praxair is a leading supplier of hydrogen, in demand by petroleum refiners who
need it to produce cleaner-burning gasoline.
Praxair has long led the development of combustion technologies that significantly improve energy efficiency
at steel, copper and aluminum producers, glass makers and cement manufacturers worldwide. In 2005, we
successfully commercialized new dilute-oxygen-combustion technology which can generate productivity
increases of 10% to 35% and fuel savings of up to 50% over conventional combustion techniques for steel
producers. It also reduces nitrogen oxide and other emissions.

Sales of cylinder gases in North America significantly outpaced overall growth in industrial production in 2005,
and topped $1 billion, or 10% above 2004 sales.

The company also signed contracts with four aluminum customers for the introduction of new oxy-fuel
aluminum remelting technologies which provide major energy savings, increased yield and enhanced
productivity. Also, Praxair’s patented low-NOx (nitrogen oxide) combustion system has reduced emissions
by up to 45% in coal-fired utility boilers. During the year, Praxair licensed WCI Steel in Ohio to use
Praxair’s patented CoJet® gas-injection technology, and installation will take place in the first quarter
of 2006. This technology, now licensed for 12 basic oxygen furnaces and more than 80 electric-arc
furnaces worldwide, significantly improves efficiency and yield at steelmaking operations.
In the oil- and gas-production market, we expect 25% per year growth over the next four or five years
based on demand for Praxair’s nitrogen and carbon dioxide, used to pressurize and fracture rock formations
in order to bring oil or gas to the surface. Similarly, injecting nitrogen or carbon dioxide into existing oil
and gas fields increases their yield by up to 20%. In addition to working fields in the U.S. and Canadian
Rockies, we are supplying nitrogen to Occidental Petroleum to enhance oil recovery in southern California,
and signed a contract with Pemex, the state-owned oil company in Mexico, to begin a major enhanced oil
recovery project in the Samaria fields (see page 10).
In the third segment of the energy market, Praxair’s hydrogen allows refining customers to reduce the
sulfur content in gasoline and diesel fuels in order to meet Environmental Protection Agency requirements.
Those requirements and the need to refine higher volumes of heavier, high-sulfur crude oil are projected to
generate hydrogen volume growth for Praxair of 20% per year for the rest of the decade. During the year, we
finalized long-term agreements to supply hydrogen to Valero refineries in Texas and a BP refinery in Indiana.
The Indiana project more than doubles Praxair's hydrogen capacity in the region, further strengthening our
ability to meet the growing needs of customers in the northern Indiana industrial corridor. In total, Praxair
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Expeditious integration

In December 2004, Praxair acquired an industrial gases business in Germany, more than tripling sales in the
Germany-Benelux region. The bulk of the new business consists of two pipelines near the western border of Germany
which, with an expanded pipeline enclave in Antwerp, Belgium, forms a new core geography for Praxair. During 2005,
a cross-functional integration team worked to quickly meld employees, systems and processes into a smoothly
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Exceeding expectations

functioning organization, achieving its goals ahead of schedule. One of the team’s many successes was completing
the construction and start up — on schedule — of a new air separation plant in Dillingen. Sales in Germany
accounted for most of Praxair’s growth in Europe during 2005, boosting total sales in the region above $1 billion.
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Extraordinary growth

In China, Praxair completed construction of two air separation units that will supply nitrogen and oxygen to a new
$4-billion petrochemical complex being built by a joint venture between China National Offshore Oil Corporation and
Shell Petrochemicals Company Ltd. Located at Daya Bay in Guangdong Province, the complex represents the largest
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Effective execution

capital investment to date for a Sino-foreign joint venture in China. The air separation plants will also supply liquid
oxygen, nitrogen and argon to other customers in the rapidly growing Guangdong region. Praxair currently operates
16 major projects in China, and six more will come onstream over the next two years.
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Review of Operations
operates 25 hydrogen plants and seven major hydrogen pipeline systems that deliver more than 850 million
cubic feet per day (1,250,000 cubic meters per hour) of hydrogen. Praxair’s 310-mile hydrogen-pipeline
complex on the U.S. Gulf Coast is one of the world’s largest.
Sales to the electronics sector worldwide were up 7% and we were able to strengthen our position in niche
markets as a supplier of sputtering targets and electrostatic chucks. Praxair Electronics opened a state-of-the-art
facility in Poughkeepsie, New York, for the design and manufacture of electrostatic chucks, used to hold silicon
wafers during semiconductor production. Customers benefit from having prototypes qualified and put into
production in one location, lowering their overall cost of development. The business also launched its UpTime™
gas storage and delivery system, designed to reduce costs and increase productivity for semiconductor producers.
In South Korea, we are building a new plant to supply Samsung Electronics’ expanding operations in Hwasung.
In addition, Praxair Chemax Semiconductor Materials Co., a joint venture between Praxair and China
Petrochemical Development Corp., opened a second operations center, in south Taiwan.
Elsewhere in the rapidly growing Asian economy, Praxair is focusing on expanding its business in China, India,
Thailand and South Korea where we have leading market positions. Total sales in Asia were up 11%, reflecting
new-business gains in India, South Korea and Thailand and the start-up of new projects in China. Praxair has
established the leading supplier position in India, where we expect to see strong growth in the next few years
as it upgrades its industrial infrastructure. New contracts were signed during the year with Owens Corning and
Hospet Steels, and a new plant started up to supply oxygen to Tata Steel.

Praxair has established the leading supplier position in India where we expect to see strong growth in the next few
years as the country upgrades its industrial infrastructure.

While volume demand remained strong in China, pricing pressures and customer delays dampened sales growth.
We completed construction of a plant that will supply the huge, $4.3-billion, joint petrochemical venture
between Shell and China National Offshore Oil Company at Daya Bay in the southern province of Guangdong
(see page 18). At Shanghai Chemical Industry Park in Caojing, near Shanghai, our joint venture started up
two production facilities: a hydrogen plant to supply BASF and an air separation plant to supply nitrogen to
SECCO Petrochemical Co., a joint venture of BP, Sinopec and Shanghai Petrochemical Corporation.
Healthcare sales worldwide were up 19%, and up 22% in North America, reflecting the full-year contribution
of Home Care Supply, acquired in mid-2004, as well as 24 new hospital-to-home accounts. A combination of
new business and cost reductions helped offset the impact of lower Medicare reimbursement rates which took
effect in April. We expect organic growth in North American healthcare sales to continue to be between 6%
and 8% per year.
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OPERATIONAL DISCIPLINE AND PRODUCTIVITY IMPROVEMENT

An important aspect of operational success is safety performance. During 2005, we did not match last
year’s best-ever results, but our performance was still substantially better than general industry averages.
At mid-year, we did experience a serious fire at our packaged gases facility in St. Louis during which,
fortunately, no one was injured. Demonstrating the vital importance of their training and regular emergency
drills, 22 employees and two customers acted as planned and evacuated the facility in 90 seconds. We have
thoroughly reviewed every aspect of the incident in order to glean as many lessons as possible from this event.
Environmental compliance is another way we measure the performance of our operations. Anticipating
increased oversight by regulatory bodies around the world, we launched an updated, more rigorous compliance
program about 18 months ago. We have had few compliance problems, and we have seen further decreases
in even minor compliance issues since the program was established. Unfortunately, in 2005, we were assessed
a penalty by the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), stemming primarily from air emission
monitoring issues, including a longstanding disagreement about the technical feasibility of certain monitoring
requirements involving our plant in Kingman, Arizona. To our knowledge, there were no harmful releases
resulting from the operation of our monitoring systems or business. We are working with the DEQ to ensure
that our facility is operating within the plant’s permit in the future.
Ongoing improvement in the efficiency of our systems and processes was another significant achievement
during the year. Employees in business operations, procurement and production were able to reduce costs by
about $169 million. Six Sigma teams contributed almost half of those savings as implementation of this
methodology took firmer hold within all Praxair businesses. By year-end, more than 65% of professional and
managerial employees had received Six Sigma training and 2,100 projects had been implemented. We worked
with customers on several Six Sigma projects, demonstrating the long-term value of partnering with Praxair.
We continued to lower the cost of plant construction by improving our processes and designing plants that are
more energy-efficient and less expensive to build. This improves our competitive position and return on capital.
Our global supply system organization also completed the year with zero lost workday safety incidents, their
best-ever performance to date.
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Market Profiles
In addition to the offerings highlighted in this table, Praxair supplies the full range of atmospheric, process and specialty gases, and a comprehensive
portfolio of supply systems tailored to customers’ needs. (The 12% of sales not covered below is generated in a variety of smaller markets.)
MARKETS

PRAXAIR OFFERINGS

CUSTOMER BENEFITS

AEROSPACE 3% OF TOTAL SALES
SPACE PROGRAM AND AEROSPACE
TESTING AND DEVELOPMENT

— Fuels, oxidizers and purge & pressurizing gases for launch & for engine
development & testing
— Electric-propulsion system gases
— High-pressure systems
— Site-gas & utility-management services
— Safety training
— Gases and cryogens for test facilities such as wind tunnels, noise chambers &
cold simulation chambers

— Single source for gases & delivery systems
— Reduced costs
— Enhanced safety

AEROSPACE MANUFACTURING

—
—
—
—
—
—

Metal-joining technology, supplies & services
High-performance surface coatings
Nitrogen for advanced composite autoclaves
Helium for leak testing
Purge, inerting & pressurization gases for welding, annealing, cutting & manufacturing
Dry ice & supercritical carbon dioxide for cleaning

— Increased productivity
— Reduced costs

COMMERCIAL AND MILITARY AVIATION

—
—
—
—
—
—

High-performance coatings for engine blades & other components
Oxygen for breathing gas
Nitrogen for fuel-tank inerting, filling tires & struts, pressurizing
Helium for blimps & weather balloons
Cryogenic fuel-densification systems
Dry ice for food service

—
—
—
—

Experience with FAA inerting standards
Extended product life
Higher operating temperatures
Increased fuel efficiency and extended range

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Site-gas management services
Environmental solutions for wastewater, VOC’s & solid-waste streams
Productivity solutions
Maintenance & repair gases & equipment
Clean dry-air systems
Utility management; co-generation
Pipeline & plant services; tank leak detection
In-service API-653 & API-570 inspection services
Mobile nitrogen pumping services
Specialty gases for process control & analytical applications; specialty gas delivery equipment

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Reliable supply
Increased productivity
Lower production & maintenance costs
Consistent product quality
Improved safety
Fast, safe turnarounds
Longer equipment life
Reduced environmental impact

—
—
—
—
—

Cryogenic gases, dry ice & equipment for biological samples shipment & storage
Low-temperature process refrigeration
Ultra-pure instrument & process gases
Supercritical extraction materials
High-accuracy traceable calibration mixtures

— Sample preservation
— FDA compliance
— Single source for gases, delivery systems,
materials & related services

CHEMICALS 11% OF TOTAL SALES

BIOTECHNOLOGY/LIFE SCIENCES/
PHARMACEUTICAL

ELECTRONICS 7% OF TOTAL SALES
SEMICONDUCTOR FABRICATION
PROCESS CONSUMABLES

FAB INFRASTRUCTURE & SERVICES

PROCESS TOOL SOLUTIONS
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— Physical vapor deposition (PVD) sputtering targets
— Atomic layer deposition (ALD) precursors
— Computer disk & chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) slurries & polishing pads
—
—
—
—

Design & installation of advanced bulk & on-site production systems
High-flow bulk specialty-gas delivery systems
Analytical systems & services
Logistics services for spare parts

— Electrostatic chucks
— Performance coatings
— Chamber components spare parts

— Single source for gases, delivery systems,
materials & related services
— Global distribution, local expertise
— Lower total cost of ownership
— Improved productivity, enhanced technology
— Reduced environmental impact
— Reliable supply

PRAXAIR OFFERINGS

MARKETS

CUSTOMER BENEFITS

ENERGY 12% OF TOTAL SALES
PETROLEUM REFINING

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Integrated supply-chain management
Extensive hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen pipeline systems
Specialty gases for process control & analytical applications
Hydrogen & energy optimization & system management services
Pipeline & plant services
Tank leak detection
Maintenance & repair gases & equipment
Utility management; co-generation
Wastewater treatment gases & equipment
In-service API-653 & API-570 inspection services
Mobile nitrogen pumping services

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Reliable supply
Environmental compliance
Lower energy & hydrogen operating costs
Increased yield
Reduced losses
Improved product quality
Lower maintenance costs
Longer equipment life
Reduced environmental impact
Improved safety

OIL & GAS PRODUCTION & RECOVERY

—
—
—
—
—
—

Mobile nitrogen pumping services
Foam fracturing applications
Cryogenic nitrogen injection & rejection services
Portable enhanced coal bed methane recovery systems
Carbon dioxide rejection
Clean dry air systems

—
—
—
—

Reliable supply
Environmental compliance
Increased yield
Lower maintenance costs

UTILITY & INDUSTRIAL BOILERS

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Oxygen-enhanced combustion for NOx control
Hydrogen cooling for turbine generators
Nuclear reactor cooling water systems
Water treatment gases and equipment
Nitrogen inerting
Laser-cladding of waterwall panels
Specialty gases for process control and analytical applications
In-service API-653 & API-570 inspection services

—
—
—
—
—
—

Improved safety
Environmental compliance
Reduced costs
Longer equipment life
Increased yield
Reduced stress corrosion

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Food laboratory testing services & data resource center
Complete line of standard cryogenic freezers
Ultra-performance cryogenic freezers
Cryogenic chilling systems
Equipment design & development compliant with USDA sanitation guidelines
Ozonated water-washing technology
Beverage-carbonation services
Modified-atmosphere packaging systems
Patented & proprietary applications technologies
Wastewater-treatment gases & equipment

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Improved food safety & product quality
Flavor preservation
Extended shelf life
Increased productivity
Enhanced yield savings
Improved distribution efficiencies
Reduced capital expenditures

Life-saving treatment
Physical comfort
Home environment
Reduced costs (vs. hospital stay)
Highly trained healthcare professionals
Enhanced quality of life
Continuity of care from hospital to home

FOOD AND BEVERAGE 7% OF TOTAL SALES

HEALTHCARE 11% OF TOTAL SALES
HOME CARE

—
—
—
—

Home oxygen therapy equipment
Advanced respiratory services – respirator ventilators & tracheotomy care
Sleep apnea equipment & treatment
Durable medical equipment – wheelchairs, hospital beds, walkers & canes,
lift devices, bathroom aids
— Home-respiratory medication program
— Enteral nutrition program
— Custom rehabilitation equipment

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

HOSPITALS

—
—
—
—

— Single source for medical gases, equipment
& services from hospital to home
— Improved efficiency & productivity
— Reduced costs
— Consistent product quality

—
—
—
—

Medipure® gases & related equipment
Grab ‘n Go® advanced respiratory systems
Laboratory gases & environmental services
Cryogenic gases, dry ice & equipment for biological shipment & storage, dermatology &
magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)
Magnet services for MRIs
Site gas-management services
Design & installation of piping & related equipment
Preparation of third-party compliance audits; compliance training & certification
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Market Profiles
MARKETS

PRAXAIR OFFERINGS

CUSTOMER BENEFITS

MANUFACTURING 21% OF TOTAL SALES
METAL FABRICATION

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Welding & cutting application technologies
Laser, robotics & automation expertise
StarSolver® productivity-enhancement program
Membrane-supply technology
Gases, equipment, consumables & accessories
Safety products
Technical support & training
Gas-supply optimization & site gas-management services
E-business capabilities

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

HEAT TREATING

—
—
—
—

Carburization, sintering & brazing gas mixtures
Protective atmospheres in furnaces
Automated gas-control systems
Technical support, process & safety information

— Improved product quality
— Reduced costs
— Improved reliability

GLASS

— Oxygen-enhanced combustion technologies
— Atmospheres for float glass
— Furnace design & waste-heat-recovery technologies

— Environmental compliance – lower
nitrogen oxide emissions
— Lower energy consumption

WATER TREATMENT

— Patented I-SO™ technology
— Gases & equipment for pH control
— Mixflo™ wastewater treatment system

— Higher treatment rates
— Reduced VOC emissions
— Improved process control & peak shaving

PULP AND PAPER

—
—
—
—
—

— Environmental compliance
— Improved product quality
— Increased productivity

PRINTING ROLLS

— Thermal-spray-coated anilox rolls & sleeves for production & restoration of
corrugated, wide & narrow web & newspaper flexographic, offset & gravure printing

—
—
—
—

GENERAL MAUFACTURING

— Thermal-spray process equipment, powders, wires, spare parts

— Enhanced product performance
— Longer product life

CEMENT

— Oxygen-enhanced combustion technologies
— Wastewater treatment
— Welding gases

— Increased productivity
— Improved process control & reliability
— Environmental compliance

— Process analysis
— Gases & energy management
— CoJet® gas-injection, AOD™ argon-oxygen decarburization & other patented & proprietary
technologies for steel, stainless steel & aluminum production & process control
— Nitrogen technologies for cold curing, protective atmospheres, inerting & desulfurization
— Waste-management systems
— Welding technologies & gases
— Advanced coatings chemistries

—
—
—
—
—

Oxidative extraction
Oxygen delignification
Brownstock washing with carbon dioxide
Wastewater treatment with oxygen and carbon dioxide
Lime kiln enrichment with oxygen

Increased productivity
Lower overall costs
Improved product quality
Environmental compliance
Increased safety
Reduced rework
Extended equipment life
Access to technical expertise

Longer service life
Reduced downtime
Increased productivity
Improved print quality

METALS 16% OF TOTAL SALES
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Reliable supply
Improved efficiency
Improved product quality
Reduced costs
Extended product life
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

SALES

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Other income (expenses) – net
OPERATING PROFIT

Interest expense – net
INCOME BEFORE TAXES

Income taxes
Minority interests
Income from equity investments
INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (Note 2)
NET INCOME

2005

2004

$7,656
4,641
987
665
80
10

$6,594
3,987
869
578
77
20

$5,613
3,328
766
517
75
(5)

1,293
163

1,103
155

922
151

1,130
376

948
232

771
174

754
(37)
15

716
(30)
11

597
(24)
12

732
(6)

697
—

585
—

$ 726

$ 697

$ 585

$ 2.26
(0.02)

$ 2.14
—

$ 1.79
—

$ 2.24

$ 2.14

$ 1.79

$ 2.22
(0.02)

$ 2.10
—

$ 1.77
—

$ 2.20

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

323,765
329,685

325,891
331,403

326,388
330,991

2003

PER SHARE DATA (NOTE 1)

Basic earnings per share
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income
Diluted earnings per share
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING (000’S) (NOTE 1)

Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding
The accompanying Notes on pages 45 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

2005

DECEMBER 31,

2004

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets

$

Total Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment – net
Equity investments
Goodwill
Other intangible assets – net
Other long-term assets
Total Assets

173
1,386
373
201

$

25
1,231
328
160

2,133
6,108
218
1,545
81
406

1,744
5,946
210
1,551
88
339

$10,491

$9,878

$

639
231
290
199
642

$ 502
454
195
129
595

2,001
2,926
833
627

1,875
2,876
949
345

6,387

6,045

202

225

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payable
Short-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt
Accrued taxes
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred credits
Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock $0.01 par value, authorized – 800,000,000 shares,
issued 2005 – 363,712,929 shares and
2004 – 359,790,504 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (2005 – 41,374,130 shares and
2004 – 36,169,726 shares)
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

4
2,489
4,022
(1,257)

4
2,314
3,529
(1,180)

(1,356)

(1,059)

3,902

3,608

$10,491

$9,878

The accompanying Notes on pages 45 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Millions of dollars)

2005

2004

2003

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Change in accounting principle (Note 2)
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Non-cash charges and other
Working capital
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Payables and accruals
Long-term assets, liabilities and other

$ 726

$ 697

$ 585

6
665
200
1

—
578
89
11

—
517
33
21

(165)
(41)
(23)
192
(86)

(203)
(24)
6
153
(64)

(96)
(22)
(19)
78
40

Net cash provided by operating activities

1,475

1,243

1,137

(877)
(44)
34

(668)
(929)
45

(983)
(73)
64

(887)

(1,552)

(992)

(232)
453
(224)
(48)
242
(396)
(233)

(113)
924
(145)
(8)
212
(394)
(195)

(94)
1,432
(1,295)
(5)
246
(271)
(149)

(438)

281

(136)

(2)

3

2

(25)
50

11
39

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
OPERATIONS

INVESTING

Capital expenditures
Acquisitions (Note 3)
Divestitures and asset sales
Net cash used for investing activities
FINANCING

Short-term debt repayments – net
Long-term debt borrowings
Long-term debt repayments
Minority interest transactions and other
Issuances of common stock
Purchases of common stock
Cash dividends
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning-of-year
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-year

148
25
$ 173

$

$ 127
$ 175
$ 28
$ —

$ 154
$ 156
$ 28
$ —

25

$

50

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Taxes paid
Interest paid
Tax benefits from stock option exercises
Debt from consolidation of equity companies
The accompanying Notes on pages 45 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 109
$ 168
$ 24
$
9

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data, shares in thousands)

Activity

Balance, December 31, 2002

Common Stock
Shares
Amounts

173,950

$2

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ 1,965

Treasury Stock
Shares
Amounts

11,682

$

(547)

Net income
Translation adjustments
Minimum pension liability, net of $5 million taxes

177,418

2

Balance, December 31, 2003

354,951

$4

48
3,535

183

$ 2,148

(1,681)
4,614
14,250

Balance, December 31, 2005

$ (1,673)

$ 2,340

313
8

585
313
8

28,865

(149)

(149)

(2)

—
262
(271)
—

79
(271)
$

(739)

$ 3,027

$ (1,352)

$ 3,088

230
(58)

697
230
(58)

697

869
(195)

106
4,734
359,791

4
162
$4

$ 2,314

(2,758)
10,063

75
(395)

36,170

$ (1,059)

Net income
Translation adjustments
Minimum pension liability, net of $25 million taxes
Comprehensive income
Dividends on common stock
($0.72 per share)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan
For employee savings and incentive plans
Purchases of common stock

$ 2,593

906

Net income
Translation adjustments
Minimum pension liability, net of $31 million taxes

Balance, December 31, 2004

Total

585

Comprehensive income
Dividends on common stock
($0.46 per share, Note 1)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan
For employee savings and incentive plans
Purchases of common stock
Two-for-one stock split (Note 1)

Comprehensive income
Dividends on common stock
($0.60 per share)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan
For employee savings and incentive plans
Purchases of common stock

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
(Note 9)

(195)

4
237
(395)
$ 3,529

$ (1,180)

$ 3,608

(28)
(49)

726
(28)
(49)

726

649
(233)

88
3,834

363,713

4
171

$4

$2,489

(3,216)
8,420

101
(398)

41,374

$(1,356)

(233)

4
272
(398)

$4,022

$(1,257)

$3,902

The accompanying Notes on pages 45 to 65 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY – FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOK

Praxair is the largest industrial gases supplier in North and South
America, is rapidly growing in Asia, and has strong, well-established
businesses in Europe. The company’s primary products are oxygen,
hydrogen, nitrogen, argon, carbon dioxide, helium, electronics gases
and a wide range of specialty gases. Praxair Surface Technologies
supplies high-performance coatings that protect metal parts from wear,
corrosion and high heat. In 2005, 94% of sales was generated in four
regional segments (North America, Europe, South America, and Asia)
primarily from the sale of industrial gases. The Surface technologies
segment generated the remaining 6% of sales.
Praxair serves approximately 25 industries as diverse as healthcare
and petroleum refining; computer-chip manufacturing and beverage
carbonation; fiber-optics and steel making; and aerospace, chemicals and
water treatment. The diversity of end markets creates financial stability
for Praxair in varied business cycles.
Praxair focuses its operational and growth strategies on the
following 11 core geographies where the company has its strongest
market positions and where distribution and production operations
allow the company to deliver the highest level of service to its
customers at the lowest cost.

Praxair delivered strong financial results in 2005. Sales growth
was driven by the company’s strategy of focusing primarily on its
core geographies, by above-average growth in its global hydrogen,
healthcare and electronics businesses and by strong growth in its base
business. New applications technologies increased industrial gas sales
above underlying economic growth rates. Many of the technological
applications help Praxair’s customers improve their energy efficiency,
reduce their environmental emissions, or improve their productivity.
Operating profit and net income grew as a result of higher sales
and the company’s disciplined focus on fixed-cost management,
productivity savings, and capital investment.

NORTH AMERICA

SOUTH AMERICA

EUROPE

ASIA

United States
Canada
Mexico

Brazil

Spain
Italy
Germany/Benelux

China
India
Thailand
Korea

Praxair manufactures and distributes its products through
a network of hundreds of production plants, pipeline complexes,
distribution centers and delivery vehicles. Major pipeline complexes
are located in the United States, Brazil, Spain and Germany.
This network is a competitive advantage, providing the foundation
of reliable product supply to the company’s customer base.
The majority of Praxair’s sales are conducted through long-term
contracts which provide stability in cash flow and ability to pass
through changes in energy costs to its customers. The company’s
primary growth markets include: hydrogen for refining; oxygen
for healthcare; nitrogen and carbon dioxide for oil and gas production;
and high purity gases for the semiconductor manufacturing industry.
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2005 Year in Review

• Sales up 16% to $7,656 million versus $6,594 million in 2004,
reflecting increased sales in each of its geographic segments.
• Operating profit of $1,293 million, a 17% increase over $1,103
million in 2004, reflecting volume growth, higher pricing and
productivity savings which more than offset higher energy costs and
general cost inflation.
• Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle of
$732 million and diluted earnings per share of $2.22, which included
a $92-million income-tax charge ($0.28 per diluted share) related to
the company’s repatriation of $1.1 billion and other tax adjustments
(see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements).
• Cash flow from operations of $1,475 million, a 19% increase over
$1,243 million in 2004.
2006 Outlook

• Sales in the range of $8.1 billion to $8.4 billion
• Operating profit in the range of $1,350 million to $1,425 million,
including an estimated stock option expense of $40 million
• Diluted earnings per share of $2.65 to $2.75, including an estimated
stock option expense of $0.08
• Effective tax rate in the range of 26% to 27%
• Capital expenditures in the area of $900 million to $950 million
The above guidance should be read in conjunction with the
section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 44.
Praxair provides quarterly updates on operating results, material
trends that may affect financial performance, and financial earnings
guidance via earnings releases and investor teleconferences. These
materials are available on the company’s website: www.praxair.com
but are not incorporated herein.

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following table provides summary data for 2005, 2004 and 2003:
VARIANCE

(Millions of dollars)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Sales
Gross margin (a)
As a percent of sales
Selling, general and administrative
As a percent of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Other income (expenses) – net
Operating profit
Interest expense – net
Effective tax rate
Income (b)
Number of employees
(a)
(b)

2005

2004

2003

$ 7,656
$ 3,015
39.4%
$ 987
12.9%
$ 665
$ 10
$ 1,293
$ 163
33.3%
$ 732
27,306

$ 6,594
$ 2,607
39.5%
$ 869
13.2%
$ 578
$ 20
$ 1,103
$ 155
24.5%
$ 697
27,020

$ 5,613
$ 2,285
40.7%
$ 766
13.6%
$ 517
$ (5)
$ 922
$ 151
22.6%
$ 585
25,438

2005 VS.

2004

2004 VS. 2003

16%
16%

17%
14%

14%

13%

15%

12%

17%
5%

20%
3%

5%
1%

19%
6%

Gross margin excludes depreciation and amortization expense.
Income is before the 2005 cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. It includes a $92 million, or $0.28 per diluted share, income tax charge for the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant
to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax adjustments.

2005 Compared With 2004

Sales in 2005 increased $1,062 million, or 16%, versus 2004.
Favorable currency movements, principally in South America, Canada
and Asia, generated 4% of sales growth. Acquisitions contributed 5%
to sales growth due to the acquisition of industrial gas assets in
Germany and Home Care Supply (HCS) in 2004. Underlying sales
growth of 6% was driven by realized price increases in North and
South America and volume growth mainly in the worldwide energy,
chemicals, metals and manufacturing markets. The underlying volume
growth of 2% understates the strong demand throughout the year
in most of the company’s end markets and regions. Volume growth
was mitigated by reduced on-site volumes in North America due to
temporary customer outages and business interruptions in the second
half of the year partly resulting from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita.
The increase in raw material costs resulting from higher natural gas
prices, which Praxair is contractually entitled to pass through to on-site
hydrogen customers, increased sales by $72 million, or 1%, with an
insignificant impact on operating profit.

Gross margin in 2005 improved $408 million, or 16%, versus
2004, in line with the sales increase. Significant energy-cost increases,
averaging 16% in 2005, and general inflation were offset by pricing
increases and productivity initiatives.
Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2005 were
$987 million, or 12.9% of sales, versus $869 million, or 13.2% of
sales, for 2004. The $118 million increase was primarily due to the
year-over-year impact of acquisitions in 2004 and currency effects.
General inflationary pressures continued to be offset by worldwide
cost efficiency programs.
Depreciation and amortization expense in 2005 increased
$87 million, or 15%, versus 2004. The increase was primarily due
to an increase in the 2005 capital base resulting from plant start-ups
and increased capital spending due to the strong project backlog.
Acquisitions and currency effects also contributed to the growth.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Other income (expenses) – net in 2005 was a $10-million
benefit compared to a $20-million benefit in 2004. See Note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the major
components of Other income (expenses) – net.
Operating profit in 2005 increased $190 million, or 17%,
versus 2004. Strong volumes and pricing, the continued impact of
productivity and cost reduction initiatives, and the contribution from
acquisitions were primarily responsible for the operating profit growth.
Favorable currency effects contributed 4% to operating profit growth.
Interest expense – net in 2005 increased $8 million, or 5%,
versus 2004 as a result of the increase in average full-year debt levels
compared to the prior year, which was due to the financing of
acquisitions made in 2004.
The effective income tax rate for 2005 was 33.3% versus 24.5%
in 2004. In 2005, income taxes included a charge of $92 million for
the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 and income tax reserve and valuation allowances
adjustments, and a net $9 million income tax benefit in Europe
principally related to a tax legislation change (see Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements). 2004 income taxes included a $3
million income tax benefit resulting from the resolution of various tax
matters. Excluding these tax items, the underlying effective tax rates
were approximately 26% in 2005 and 25% in 2004. This increase was
due primarily to higher earnings contributions in countries with higher
marginal tax rates. For 2006, Praxair expects a full-year effective tax
rate in the range of 26% to 27%.
At December 31, 2005, minority interests consisted principally
of minority shareholders’ investments in Europe (primarily in Italy),
Asia (primarily in China and India) and North America (primarily
within Praxair Distribution). The increase in minority interests of
$7 million in 2005 was due to improved profitability of the entities
located in Italy and China.
Praxair’s significant equity investments are in Italy, the United
States and Spain. The company’s share of net income from corporate
equity investments increased $4 million in 2005 primarily due to
an asset impairment charge of $3 million recorded in 2004 for an
unconsolidated joint venture.
Income in 2005 increased $35 million, or 5%, versus 2004.
Income excluding the impact of the third-quarter income tax charge of
$92 million increased 18%. Operating-profit growth was the primary
driver of the net-income improvement.
The number of employees at December 31, 2005 was 27,306,
reflecting a small increase of 286 employees from December 31, 2004.
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2004 Compared With 2003

Sales in 2004 increased $981 million, or 17%, versus 2003.
Strong volume growth, primarily in the energy, metals, healthcare,
manufacturing, chemicals and electronics markets, increased sales
by 9% as worldwide economic activity strengthened. Price increases
were realized in all regional segments and increased overall sales by 2%.
Currency movements, primarily in Europe, South America and Asia,
favorably impacted sales growth by 3%. The increase in raw material
costs tied to natural gas prices, which Praxair is contractually entitled
to pass through to on-site hydrogen customers, increased sales by $40
million, or 1%, with an insignificant impact on operating profit.
The acquisition of HCS in June 2004 and the German acquisition in
December 2004 increased sales by 2%.
Gross margin in 2004 improved $322 million, or 14%, versus 2003.
Gross margin as a percentage of sales declined 120 basis points to 39.5%
versus 2003. The reduction was due primarily to the start-up of two steammethane reformers on the U.S. Gulf Coast, which operate at lower
operating margins due to the pass-through of natural gas costs in sales.
Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2004 were $869
million, or 13.2% of sales, versus $766 million, or 13.6% of sales, for
2003. The $103 million increase was primarily due to general cost
inflation, acquisitions and currency increases.
Depreciation and amortization expense in 2004 increased
$61 million, or 12%, versus 2003. The increase was principally due
to increased capital spending in 2003, acquisitions and currency
increases in Europe and South America.
Other income (expenses) – net in 2004 increased by $25 million
to a $20-million benefit in 2004 compared with a $5-million loss
in 2003. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for a
summary of the major components of Other income (expenses) – net.
Operating profit in 2004 increased $181 million, or 20%, versus
2003. Strong sales volumes, continued productivity initiatives and
moderate price increases across all segments were primarily responsible
for 15% of operating profit growth in 2004. Currency appreciation,
primarily in Europe and South America, was responsible for the
remaining 5% growth.
Interest expense in 2004 increased $4 million, or 3%, versus
2003. The debt levels and interest rates remained comparable to those
in 2003 through November 2004. Interest expense increased slightly in
December due to an increase in debt to finance the German acquisition.
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The effective income tax rate for 2004 was 24.5%, versus 22.6%
for 2003. The increase in the effective rate was due primarily to higher
earnings contributions in countries with higher marginal tax rates.
Income taxes include a benefit of $3 million in 2004 and $10 million
in 2003 resulting from the resolution of various tax matters from prior
years. Excluding these tax items, the underlying effective tax rates were
approximately 25% in 2004 and 24% in 2003.
At December 31, 2004, minority interests consist of minority
shareholders’ investments in Europe (primarily in Italy), Asia (primarily
in China and India) and North America (primarily within Praxair
Distribution). The increase in minority interest of $6 million in 2004
was due primarily to improved profitability of the entities located in
Italy and China.
Praxair’s significant equity investments are in Italy, the
United States and Spain. The company’s share of net income from
corporate equity investments declined slightly to $11 million in
2004 due primarily to a $3-million asset impairment charge for an
unconsolidated joint venture offset by improved profitability in
other joint ventures.
Net income in 2004 increased $112 million, or 19%, versus
2003. The increase was due to improved operating profit which was
partially offset by the higher effective tax rate.
The number of employees at December 31, 2004 was 27,020,
reflecting an increase of 1,582 employees from December 31, 2003
due primarily to the June acquisition of HCS (+1,263) and the
German acquisition (+266) in December.
Change in Accounting Principle

Related Party Transactions

The company’s related parties are primarily unconsolidated equity
affiliates. The company did not engage in any material transactions
involving related parties that included terms or other aspects that
differ from those which would be negotiated with independent parties.
Costs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

Praxair’s principal operations relate to the production and distribution
of atmospheric and other industrial gases, which historically have not
had a significant impact on the environment. However, worldwide
costs relating to environmental protection may continue to grow due
to increasingly stringent laws and regulations, and Praxair’s ongoing
commitment to rigorous internal standards. Environmental protection
costs in 2005 included approximately $10 million in capital
expenditures and $21 million of expenses. Environmental protection
expenditures were approximately $6 million higher in 2005 versus
2004 primarily due to increases in capital projects and increased
compliance costs. Praxair anticipates that future environmental
protection expenditures will be similar to 2005, subject to any
significant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based on
historical results and current estimates, management does not
believe that environmental expenditures will have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial position or on the consolidated
results of operations or cash flows in any given year.
Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for information
concerning legal proceedings.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, Praxair completed its assessment of
conditional asset retirement obligations required for the adoption of
FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations.” The assessment resulted in the recognition
of a liability related to asset retirement obligations for assets currently
in use. As a result, a $6 million non-cash transition charge to earnings
was recorded as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.
See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT DISCUSSION

The following summary of sales and operating profit by segment provides a basis for the discussion that follows (for additional information
concerning Praxair’s segments, see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements):
VARIANCE

(Millions of dollars)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004

2003

2005 VS.

$ 4,680
1,105
1,126
543
475
(273)

$ 4,191
847
866
487
447
(244)

$ 3,627
699
708
389
400
(210)

12%
30%
30%
11%
6%

16%
21%
22%
25%
12%

$ 7,656

$ 6,594

$ 5,613

16%

17%

$ 685
263
202
95
48

$ 623
214
152
80
34

$ 548
170
114
64
26

10%
23%
33%
19%
41%

14%
26%
33%
25%
31%

$ 1,293

$ 1,103

$ 922

17%

20%

2004

2004 VS. 2003

SALES

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies
Eliminations

OPERATING PROFIT

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies

North America

The North America segment includes Praxair’s industrial and packaged
gases operations in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. North America also
includes several product lines servicing the electronics
and healthcare markets.
Sales for 2005 increased $489 million, or 12%, versus 2004.
Acquisitions contributed 2% to sales growth due to the mid-year 2004
acquisition of HCS. Underlying sales growth of 7% was due to higher
pricing and volumes, as compared to 2004. Pricing increased sales by
5% and was the result of the contractual pass-through of higher
power costs to on-site customers, surcharges for higher power and
transportation fuel costs for merchant and packaged gases, and the
impact of pricing actions. Volume growth of 2% reflects strong
merchant liquid and packaged gases volumes offset by lower on-site
volumes, which was primarily a result of customer outages on the U.S.
Gulf Coast in the second half of 2005, resulting in reduced volumes to
the chemicals and refining industries. Volumes to general manufacturing
markets were strong throughout the year. Merchant-liquid demand was
strong in most end markets, particularly energy and oil well services.
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Strong results in Canada and Mexico also contributed to sales growth.
The increase in raw material costs resulting from higher natural gas
prices, which Praxair is contractually entitled to pass through to
on-site hydrogen customers, increased sales by $72 million, or 2%, with
an insignificant impact on operating profit.
Operating profit in 2005 increased $62 million, or 10%, versus
2004. Acquisitions and currency favorably impacted operating profit
growth by 3%. Underlying growth was 7%, in line with sales growth,
from the combined impact of pricing actions and cost reduction
activities, which more than offset the significantly higher energy costs
and underlying general cost inflation.
On June 14, 2004, Praxair acquired 100% of the outstanding
common shares of HCS for a purchase price of $245 million. HCS was
the largest privately-held home-respiratory and medical-equipment
provider in the United States with 59 locations in 13 states. See Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information
related to the acquisition.
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Sales for 2004 increased $564 million, or 16%, versus 2003.
Higher demand in the energy, manufacturing, metals and chemicals
marketplaces led to strong volume growth of 9%. Acquisitions
contributed 3% to sales growth, driven primarily by the HCS
acquisition. Overall price increases of 3% were primarily driven by
price attainment in Praxair’s Canadian and U.S. packaged-gas business,
on-site business and in Mexico. The increase in raw material costs
resulting from higher natural gas prices, which Praxair is contractually
entitled to pass through to on-site hydrogen customers, increased sales
by $40 million, or 1%, with an insignificant impact on operating profit.
Operating profit in 2004 increased $75 million, or 14%, versus
2003. Stronger sales to the manufacturing, metals, chemicals and
electronics markets was the primary driver to operating-profit growth.
Total productivity and pricing actions largely offset underlying
inflationary pressures. Acquisitions and currency favorably impacted
operating profit by 2%. Operating profit as a percentage of sales
decreased 20 basis points to 14.9%. This decline was solely due to the
HCS acquisition and the start-up of two steam-methane reformers in
the third quarter, both of which operate at lower operating margins.
Excluding the effect of the acquisition and the new hydrogen business,
operating profit as a percentage of sales was higher than 2003 levels
by 30 basis points.

sales increased 1% due to higher volumes from new business and
applications. Organic business activity remained stable, with modest
volume growth in Spain and Germany offsetting weaker volumes in
Italy and Western Europe due to a slowing economic environment.
Operating profit for 2005 increased $49 million, or 23%, versus
2004. The contribution of the German acquisition accounted for most
of the operating-profit growth. Inflationary pressures continued to be
largely offset by productivity programs.
Sales for 2004 increased $148 million, or 21%, versus 2003.
The favorable impact of the stronger euro increased sales by 10%.
Acquisitions accounted for approximately 6% of the sales growth,
driven by the German acquisition and the full-year impact of the
2003 consolidation of Indugas, a former joint venture. Excluding the
acquisitions and the impact of currency, sales increased 4% due to
improved volumes. Liquid and packaged-gas volumes in Spain, Italy,
and Western Europe remained at healthy levels as the metals, healthcare
and electronics markets continued to grow at robust levels.
Operating profit for 2004 increased $44 million, or 26%, versus
2003. The improvement in operating profit was principally due to the
continued favorable impact of a stronger euro and increased sales, each
of which generated half of the increase. Cost reductions related to
productivity programs primarily offset inflation on existing cost structures.

Europe

South America

Praxair’s European industrial gases business is primarily in Italy, Spain,
Germany, the Benelux region and France. On December 2, 2004,
Praxair acquired industrial gas assets and related businesses in Germany
for a purchase price of $667 million. The acquired assets and businesses
consist of industrial gas plants and pipeline assets in the Rhine/Ruhr
and Saar areas, bulk distribution and packaged-gas businesses.
The businesses serve large customers in the refining, chemical and steel
industries along the pipeline systems, in addition to 40,000 smaller
customers in bulk, medical, specialty and packaged gases. See Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information
related to the acquisition.
Sales for 2005 increased $258 million, or 30%, versus 2004.
The full-year impact of the German acquisition accounted for 28% of
the sales growth. The favorable impact of the stronger euro increased
sales by 1%. Excluding the acquisition and the impact of currency,

Praxair’s South American industrial gases operations are conducted by
its subsidiary, White Martins Gases Industriais Ltda. (White Martins),
the largest industrial gases company in Brazil. White Martins also
manages Praxair’s operations in Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia,
Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela.
Sales for 2005 increased $260 million, or 30%, versus 2004.
The favorable impact of currency increased sales by 17%. Excluding the
impact of currency, sales increased 13%, driven by higher pricing and
volumes primarily to the manufacturing and healthcare markets.
Operating profit increased $50 million, or 33%, versus 2004.
Higher pricing and cost-reduction programs outpaced underlying
inflation pressures, favorably impacting operating profit. The favorable
impact of currency contributed 15% to operating profit growth in 2005.
Sales for 2004 increased $158 million, or 22%, versus 2003.
The sales improvement was driven by volume increases of 9% and
realized price increases of 9% to on-site, liquid and packaged-gases
customers.

35

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Currency improvements increased sales by 4%. Continued strong
volume increases in the metals, manufacturing and healthcare markets
principally drove the sales volume growth.
Operating profit increased $38 million, or 33%, versus 2003.
The increase in operating profit was principally due to the increase in
sales and the favorable impact of currency fluctuations, which grew
operating profit by 21% and 12%, respectively. Continued cost savings
initiatives and pricing offset inflationary impacts on cost structures.
Asia

The Asia segment includes Praxair’s industrial gases operations in
China, India, Korea and Thailand, with smaller operations in Japan,
Malaysia and Taiwan.
Sales for 2005 increased $56 million, or 11%, versus 2004.
Strong volume growth, primarily to the electronics and metals markets,
contributed 9% to the increase. The increase in sales to electronics, the
segment’s largest end-market, was due to sales of sputtering targets and
strong demand for specialty gases for the semiconductor and LCD
markets. Growth in the on-site and liquid product lines, primarily
in China, Korea and Thailand, also contributed to volume increases.
Pricing declined by 2%. Favorable pricing trends in Thailand and
India were offset by pricing declines in electronics specialty gases.
Favorable currency movements improved sales by 4%.
Operating profit for 2005 increased $15 million, or 19%, versus
2004. The increase in operating profit was a result primarily of volume
growth and cost-efficiency improvements in the supply system.
Sales for 2004 increased $98 million, or 25%, versus 2003.
Strong volume growth, primarily in the electronics, metals and
chemicals markets, increased sales by 18%. Realized price increases
were 3% for the year and favorable currency movement improved sales
by 2%. The 2003 consolidation of a former joint venture in China
increased sales by 2%.
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Operating profit for 2004 increased $16 million, or 25%, versus
2003. The improvement in operating profit was a result primarily
of the strong volumes, which increased operating profit by 25%.
The 2003 consolidation of a former joint venture added 4% growth
for the year. Cost-reduction initiatives largely offset the negative impact
of inflation.
Surface technologies

Surface technologies provides high-performance coatings and thermalspray powders in the U.S. and Europe, with smaller operations in Asia
and Brazil.
Sales for 2005 increased $28 million, or 6%, versus 2004.
Higher volumes of coatings for OEM aircraft engine parts primarily
drove the overall volume increase of 3%. Industrial coatings for power
turbines and oil field service components also were higher compared
to the prior year. Realized price increases were 2%.
Operating profit for 2005 increased $14 million, or 41%, versus
2004. The increase was principally driven by the higher sales volumes.
Pricing actions and cost reduction activities offset increasing raw
material costs.
Sales for 2004 increased $47 million, or 12%, versus 2003.
The favorable impact of currency increased sales by $22 million, or
6%, compared to the prior year. Volume increased 6%, primarily as
a result of higher volumes of high-end coating sales for OEM aircraft
engine parts and other industrial coatings. The aviation-repair business
continued to be soft, reflecting the weak financial condition of the
commercial airline industry.
Operating profit for 2004 increased $8 million, or 31%, versus
2003. The increase in operating profit was driven by benefits from
increased volumes, primarily of industrial coatings, and the benefits
of prior-year cost-reduction initiatives.
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functional currency. There is inherent variability and unpredictability
in the relationship of these functional currencies to the U.S. dollar
and such currency movements may materially impact Praxair’s results
of operations in any given period.

Currency

The results of Praxair’s non-U.S. operations are translated to the
company’s reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, from the functional
currencies used in the countries in which the company operates.
For most foreign operations, Praxair uses the local currency as its

To help understand the reported results, the following is a summary of the significant currencies underlying Praxair’s consolidated results and
the exchange rates used to translate the financial statements (rates of exchange expressed in units of local currency per U.S. dollar):

CURRENCY

European euro
Brazilian real
Canadian dollar
Mexican peso
Chinese RMB
Indian rupee
Korean won
Argentinean peso
Venezuelan bolivar
(a)

PERCENT OF
2005
CONSOLIDATED
SALES (a)

17%
12%
9%
4%
2%
2%
2%
1%
<1%

INCOME STATEMENT
AVERAGE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004

2003

2005

2004

0.80
2.43
1.21
10.96
8.20
44.02
1,027
2.92
2,107

0.81
2.92
1.31
11.30
8.28
45.41
1,151
2.94
1,883

0.89
3.06
1.41
10.74
8.28
46.74
1,192
2.95
1,609

0.85
2.34
1.17
10.68
8.07
45.20
1,013
3.03
2,150

0.73
2.65
1.21
11.13
8.28
43.74
1,046
2.98
1,920

Certain Surface technologies segment sales are included in European and Brazilian sales.
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCIAL DATA

2004

(Millions of dollars)

2005

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2004

2003

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)

Cash flow from operations increased $106 million to $1,243 million
in 2004 from $1,137 million in 2003. The growth was a result of the
strong cash flow generated from the improved profits on higher sales,
partially offset by cash used for worldwide pension contributions of
approximately $119 million.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income plus depreciation and
amortization and change in accounting principle $1,397
Working capital
(37)
Other – net
115

$ 1,275
(68)
36

$ 1,102
(58)
93

Total provided by operating activities

$1,475

$ 1,243

$ 1,137

Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Divestitures and asset sales

$ (877)
(44)
34

$ (668)
(929)
45

$ (983)
(73)
64

Total used for investing

$ (887)

$(1,552)

$ (992)

Debt increases (reductions) – net
Minority transactions and other
Issuances (purchases) of stock – net
Cash dividends

$

(3)
(48)
(154)
(233)

$ 666
(8)
(182)
(195)

$

Total provided by (used for) financing

$ (438)

$ 281

$ (136)

Investing

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

(a)

Debt-to-capital ratio
After-tax return on capital
(a)

43
(5)
(25)
(149)

45.6%
13.2%

47.9%
12.5%

46.2%
12.8%

Non-GAAP measures. See the Appendix on page 70 for definitions and reconciliations to reported amounts.

Cash Flow from Operations
2005

Cash flow from operations increased $232 million to $1,475 million
in 2005 from $1,243 million in 2004. The growth is a result of the
strong cash flow generated from the
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
improved operating profits on higher
(Millions of dollars)
sales and continued focus on the
$1,475
management of working capital
$1,243
which grew at a slower pace than
$1,137
sales. Pension contributions were
$1,020 $1,001
$140 million in 2005.
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2002

2003

2004

2005

2005

Net cash used for investing activities of $887 million in 2005 decreased
$665 million versus 2004. Cash used for acquisitions decreased by
$885 million as 2004 included the German and HCS acquisitions.
This decrease was partially offset by higher capital expenditures in
2005, which increased $209 million
to $877 million, reflecting a strong
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
(Millions of dollars)
backlog of projects that will begin
production in 2006 and 2007.
Acquisition expenditures
in 2005 were $44 million, related
$983
$877
primarily to the purchase of a North
$668
American packaged gas distributor
$595
$498
in December.
Divestitures and asset sales
in 2005 totaled $34 million, a
decrease of $11 million from 2004.
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
An increase in underlying asset
Includes the purchase of previously leased
sales in 2005 was offset by a $20assets for $339 million (See Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements).
million sale of assets in Europe
related to a customer contract termination in 2004.
On a worldwide basis, capital expenditures for 2006 are
expected to be in the range of $900 million to $950 million, with
investments in many of the company’s end markets including energy,
metals and manufacturing. By region, the largest amount of forecasted
capital expenditures is expected to be in North America and Asia.
By end-market, the largest concentration is expected to be in energy.
The spending will fund growth activities, maintenance and costreduction programs in each of the company’s segments. At December
31, 2005, $596 million of capital expenditures had been approved
and committed.
(a)

(a)
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2004

Net cash used for investing activities of $1,552 million in 2004
increased $560 million versus 2003 due primarily to the two
significant 2004 acquisitions, partially offset by a reduction in capital
expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2004 totaled $668 million,
a decrease of $315 million from 2003, which included the purchase
of leased assets for $339 million.
Acquisition expenditures in 2004 were $929 million, an increase
of $856 million from 2003. The 2004 expenditures related primarily
to the German and HCS acquisitions.
Proceeds from divestitures and asset sales in 2004 were $45
million, a decrease of $19 million from 2003. The 2003 time period
included $50 million related to the sale of Praxair’s Polish business
which was offset by the $20-million asset sale related to a customer
contract termination.
Financing

Praxair’s financing strategy is to secure long-term committed funding at
attractive interest rates by issuing U.S. public notes and debentures and
commercial paper backed by a standby long-term bank credit agreement.
Its international operations are funded
through a combination of local
DEBT-TO-CAPITAL RATIO
borrowing and inter-company funding
53.1% 52.3%
to minimize the total cost of funds
47.9%
45.6%
46.2%
and to manage and centralize currency
exchange exposures. As deemed
necessary, Praxair manages its
exposure to interest-rate changes
through the use of financial
derivatives (see Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements and
the section entitled “Market Risks
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
and Sensitivity Analyses” on page 43).
At December 31, 2005,
Praxair’s total debt outstanding was $3,447 million, $78 million lower
than $3,525 million at December 31, 2004. The December 31, 2005

debt balance includes $2,177 million in public notes and $1,270 million
representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings. At December 31,
2005, Praxair was in compliance with its borrowing covenants and its
global effective borrowing rate was approximately 5%. See Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements for additional information on the
company’s indebtedness.
Cash used for financing activities was $438 million in 2005
compared to cash provided by financing activities of $281 million
in 2004. The swing in cash used for financing activities is largely due
to net proceeds from debt issuances of $666 million in 2004 to fund
the German and HCS acquisitions. Cash used for dividend payments
increased $38 million to $0.72 per share compared to $0.60 in 2004,
an increase of 20%. Cash used for minority transactions and other
increased $40 million to $48 million in 2005 due primarily to
dividend payments to a minority shareholder in Italy.
In 2005, the company executed a plan to repatriate $1.1 billion
of undistributed foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements). To fund the repatriation for Europe and Canada, the
company entered into a five-year, $400-million revolving credit
facility and a five-year, $200-million revolving credit facility with a
syndicate of international banks. At December 31, 2005, $253 million
and $140 million were outstanding against the $400-million facility
and $200-million facility, respectively. The proceeds received in
connection with these borrowings were used to finance the repatriation
and were temporarily used in the United States primarily to repay
short-term borrowings and commercial paper. Also during 2005,
Praxair repaid $150 million of 6.85% notes that were due on June 15,
2005. The repayment was funded through the issuance of commercial
paper. See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information related to the company’s indebtedness.
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Other Financial Data

The following discussion includes non-GAAP measures that may
not be comparable to similar definitions used by other companies.
Praxair believes that its debt-to-capital ratio is appropriate for
measuring its financial leverage. The company believes that its after-tax
return on capital ratio is an appropriate measure for judging
performance as it reflects the approximate after-tax profit earned as a
percentage of investments by all parties in the business (debt, minority
interests and shareholders’ equity). See the Appendix on page 70 for

definitions and reconciliation of these two non-GAAP measures to
reported amounts.
Praxair’s debt-to-capital ratio decreased 230 basis points to 45.6%
at December 31, 2005 over 2004. The improvement is attributed to an
increase in shareholders’ equity due to 2005 net income slightly offset
by an increase in 2005 dividends declared and paid.
After-tax return on capital increased 70 basis points to 13.2% at
December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 due to increased 2005 operating
profit partially offset by an increase in average capital year-over-year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth Praxair’s material contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005:
(Millions of dollars)

DUE OR
EXPIRING BY
DECEMBER 31,

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

DEBT AND
CAPITALIZED
LEASE
MATURITIES

OBLIGATIONS
UNDER
OPERATING
LEASES

UNCONDITIONAL
PURCHASE
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL

CONSTRUCTION
COMMITMENTS

GUARANTEES
AND OTHER

TOTAL

$521
541
564
542
400
879

$81
60
46
34
24
89

$160
111
97
75
53
318

$762
712
707
651
477
1,286

$456
118
22
—
—
—

$67
—
2
—
—
5

$523
118
24
—
—
5

$3,447

$334

$814

$4,595

$596

$74

$670

Debt and capitalized lease maturities of $3,447 million
exclude interest thereon, are more fully described in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements and are included on the company’s
balance sheet as long- and short-term liabilities. Maturities of shortterm borrowings under revolving credit facilities of $533 million and
$393 million are included in 2009 and 2010 maturities, respectively,
due to the company’s ability and intent to refinance amounts
outstanding against these facilities through the final maturity date
under such agreements.
Obligations under operating leases of $334 million represent
non-cancelable contractual obligations primarily for manufacturing and
distribution equipment and office space. See Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for further details.
Unconditional purchase obligations of $814 million represent
contractual commitments under various long- and short-term take-or-pay
arrangements with suppliers. These obligations are primarily minimumpurchase commitments for helium, electricity, natural gas and feedstock
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used to produce atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide and hydrogen.
During 2005, payments under these contracts totaled $562 million,
including $237 million for electricity and $218 million for natural gas.
A significant portion of these obligations are passed on to customers
through similar take-or-pay contractual arrangements. Purchase
obligations that are not passed along to customers do not represent a
significant risk to Praxair. Praxair generally enters into contracts to
purchase products and services that do not have minimum purchase
provisions.
Construction commitments of $596 million represent
outstanding commitments to customers or suppliers to complete
authorized construction projects as of December 31, 2005. A significant
portion of Praxair’s capital spending is related to the construction of
new production facilities to satisfy customer commitments which may
take a year or more to complete.
Guarantees and other of $74 million include $12 million related
to required minimum pension contributions and $62 million related to
Praxair’s contingent obligations under guarantees of certain debt of
unconsolidated affiliates.

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Unconsolidated equity investees had total debt of approximately $215
million at December 31, 2005, which was non-recourse to Praxair with
the exception of the guaranteed portions described above. Praxair has no
financing arrangements with closely-held related parties.
See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for more
information concerning commitments and contingencies. In addition,
see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of
long-term liabilities which consist primarily of pension and other
post-retirement benefit costs (OPEB).
Pension Benefits

The non-cash minimum pension liability increased $74 million to $315
million at December 31, 2005 ($206 million after-tax) from $241
million at December 31, 2004 ($157 million after-tax). The increase
in the minimum pension liability was due primarily to an update to
the mortality assumption and a decrease in the discount rate assumption
used for the U.S. pension plans. The increase did not affect net income
as the offsetting, after-tax charge was made to Accumulated other
comprehensive income within Shareholders’ equity pursuant to
U.S. GAAP.
Pension contributions were $140 million in 2005 and $119
million in 2004. Estimates of 2006 contributions are in the area of
$100 million, of which $12 million is required. During January
2006, contributions of $84 million were paid to Praxair’s U.S.
Pension Plans.
Praxair assumes an expected return on plan assets for 2006 in
the U.S. of 8.25%. In 2006, consolidated pension expense is expected
to be approximately $53 million versus $44 million in 2005 and
$37 million in 2004.
Insurance

Praxair purchases insurance to limit a variety of risks, including those
related to workers’ compensation, third-party liability and property.
Currently, the company self-retains the first $5 million per occurrence
for workers’ compensation and general liability and retains $2.5 million
to $5 million per occurrence for its various properties worldwide.
To mitigate its aggregate loss potential above varying retentions, the
company purchases insurance coverage from highly rated insurance
companies at what it believes are reasonable coverage levels. This includes
Praxair’s participation in a property insurance consortium for which
some of the premiums are retrospective in nature and may increase due
to the overall loss experience of all members within the consortium.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the company had recorded a total of
$42 million and $43 million, respectively, representing an estimate of
the retained liability for the ultimate cost of claims incurred and unpaid
as of the balance sheet dates. The estimated liability is established using
statistical analyses and is based upon historical experience, actuarial
assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates are subject to
the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and are subject to a
significant degree of inherent variability. If actual claims differ from the
company’s estimates, financial results could be impacted.
Praxair recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating to damages
at the time of loss only to the extent of incurred losses. Any insurance
recoveries for business interruption and for property damages in excess
of the net book value of the property are recognized only when realized.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be
critical to understanding Praxair’s financial statements and accompanying
Notes prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). Their application places
significant importance on management’s judgment as a result of the
need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain.
Praxair’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows could
be materially affected if actual results differ from estimates made.
These policies are determined by management and have been reviewed
by Praxair’s Audit Committee.
Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Praxair’s net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2005 was
$6,108 million, representing 58% of the company’s consolidated total
assets. Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$649 million, or 10% of total operating costs. Management judgment
is required in the determination of the estimated depreciable lives that
are used to calculate the annual depreciation expense and accumulated
depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated
over the assets’ estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis for financialreporting purposes. The estimated useful life represents the projected
period of time that the asset will be productively employed by the
company and is determined by management based on many factors,
including historical experience with similar assets, technological life
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cycles, geographic locations and contractual supply relationships with
on-site customers. Circumstances and events relating to these assets,
such as on-site contract modifications, are monitored to ensure that
changes in asset lives or impairments (see “Asset Impairment” below)
are identified and prospective depreciation expense or impairment
expense is adjusted accordingly. Praxair’s largest asset values relate to
cryogenic air-separation production plants with average depreciable lives
of 15 years.
Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2005, if depreciable
lives of machinery and equipment, on average, were increased or
decreased by one year, annual depreciation expense would be decreased
by approximately $29 million or increased by approximately $32
million, respectively.
Pension Benefits

Pension benefits represent financial obligations that will be ultimately
settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility requirements.
Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and
amount of future payments, significant estimates are required to
calculate pension expense and liabilities related to the company’s plans.
The company utilizes the services of several independent actuaries for
its various plans, whose models are used to facilitate these calculations.
Several key assumptions are used in actuarial models to calculate
pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the financial
statements. Management believes the three most significant variables
in the models are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets,
the discount rate, and the expected rate of compensation increase.
The actuarial models also use assumptions for various other factors,
including employee turnover, retirement age, and mortality. Praxair
management believes the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations
are reasonable, reflect the company’s experience and expectations for the
future and are within accepted practices in each of the respective
geographic locations in which it operates. Actual results in any given
year will often differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic
and other factors.
The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on
pension plan assets were 8.50% for U.S. plans and 7.75% for
international plans for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
These rates are determined annually by management based on a
weighted average of current and historical market trends, historical
and expected portfolio performance and the current and expected
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portfolio mix of investments. A 0.50% change in these expected
long-term rates of return, with all other variables held constant, would
change Praxair’s pension expense by approximately $6 million.
The weighted-average discount rates for pension plan liabilities
were 5.62% for U.S. plans and 5.45% for international plans at
December 31, 2005 (5.85% and 5.50%, respectively, at December 31,
2004). These rates are used to calculate the present value of plan
liabilities and are determined annually by management. The discount
rate for the U.S. plan is established utilizing a bond matching model
provided by the company’s independent actuaries. The portfolio of
bonds includes only Moody’s Aa-graded corporate bonds and matches
the U.S. plan’s projected cash flows to the spot rates and calculates the
single equivalent discount rate which produces the same present value.
The discount rates for the various international plans are based on local
market yields for high-quality fixed income investments representing
the approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the measurement
date. A 0.50% change in discount rates, with all other variables held
constant, would change Praxair’s pension expense by approximately
$10 million and would impact the projected benefit obligation (PBO)
by approximately $114 million.
The weighted-average expected rate of compensation increase
was 3.25% for U.S. plans and 3.0% for international plans at December
31, 2005 and 3.0% for U.S. and international plans at December 31,
2004. The estimated annual compensation increase is determined by
management every year and is based on historical trends and market
indices. A 0.50% change in the expected rate of compensation increase,
with all other variables held constant, would change Praxair’s pension
expense by approximately $4 million and would impact the PBO
by approximately $21 million. A change in this assumption usually
coincides with a change in the discount rate assumption, and the
earnings impacts generally offset one another.
ASSET IMPAIRMENT

Goodwill

At December 31, 2005, the company had goodwill of $1,545 million,
which represents the aggregate of excess purchase price for acquired
businesses over the fair value of the net assets acquired. The company
performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been
incurred. The impairment test requires that the company estimate and
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compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying value.
As of December 31, 2005, goodwill was assigned to eight reporting
units in amounts ranging from $1 million to $952 million. Fair value
is determined through the use of projected future cash flows, multiples
of earnings and sales and other factors.
Such analysis requires the use of certain future market assumptions
and discount factors, which are subjective in nature. Estimated values
can be affected by many factors beyond the company’s control such as
business and economic trends, government regulation, and technological
changes. Management believes that the assumptions used to determine
fair value are appropriate and reasonable. However, changes in
circumstances or conditions affecting these assumptions could have
a significant impact on the fair value determination, which could
then result in a material impairment charge to the company’s results
of operations.
See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for
disclosures concerning the carrying value of goodwill.
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. To test
recoverability, the company compares management’s best estimate of
the future cash flows expected to be generated from the asset or asset
group to compare against the carrying amount of the asset or asset
group. Should these undiscounted future cash flows be less than the
carrying amount of the asset or asset group, an impairment charge
reducing the carrying amount to fair value is required. Fair value
is determined based on the most appropriate valuation technique,
including discounted cash flows. This analysis requires management
to make various subjective estimates and assumptions, including the
amount of projected future cash flows related to the potentially
impaired asset or asset group, the useful life over which cash flows
will occur and the asset’s residual value, if any.
Income Taxes

At December 31, 2005, Praxair had deferred tax assets of $473 million
(net of valuation allowances of $206 million), and deferred tax
liabilities of $935 million. Income tax expense was $376 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, Praxair
estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and regulatory
structures that exist in various jurisdictions where the company
conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent
tax benefits or obligations that arise from temporary differences due
to differing treatment of certain items for accounting and income tax
purposes. Praxair evaluates deferred tax assets each period to ensure
that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character
(e.g. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment), amount and
timing to result in their recovery. A valuation allowance is established
when management determines that it is more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be realized to reduce the assets to their
realizable value. Considerable judgments are required in establishing
deferred tax valuation allowances and in assessing probable exposures
related to tax matters. Praxair’s tax returns are subject to audit and
local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax positions.
The company’s practice is to review tax-filing positions by jurisdiction
and to record provisions for probable tax assessments, including interest
and penalties when assessed, if applicable. Praxair believes it records
and/or discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has
reasonably estimated its income tax liabilities and recoverable tax assets.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements for
information concerning new accounting standards and for information
regarding the 2005 change in accounting principle, respectively.
MARKET RISKS AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

Praxair is exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest
rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of financial risk
management at Praxair is to minimize the negative impact of interest
rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the company’s earnings,
cash flows and equity.
To manage these risks, Praxair uses various derivative financial
instruments, including interest-rate swaps, currency swaps, forward
contracts and commodity contracts. Praxair only uses commonly
traded and non-leveraged instruments. These contracts are entered into
primarily with major banking institutions thereby minimizing the risk
of credit loss. Also, see Notes 1 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for a more complete description of Praxair’s accounting
policies and use of such instruments.
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The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market
value, earnings and cash flows of Praxair’s financial instruments to
hypothetical changes in interest and exchange rates assuming these
changes occurred at December 31, 2005. The range of changes
chosen for these discussions reflect Praxair’s view of changes which
are reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values represent
the present values of projected future cash flows based on interest rate
and exchange rate assumptions.
Interest Rate and Debt Sensitivity Analysis

At December 31, 2005, Praxair had debt totaling $3,447 million
($3,525 million at December 31, 2004). There were no interest-rate
swap agreements outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. As considered necessary, interest-rate swaps are entered
into as hedges of underlying financial instruments to effectively change
the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the
underlying financial instrument. For fixed-rate instruments, interestrate changes affect the fair market value but do not impact earnings
or cash flows. Conversely, for floating-rate instruments, interest-rate
changes generally do not affect the fair market value but impact future
earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.
At December 31, 2005, Praxair had fixed-rate debt of $2,241
million and floating-rate debt of $1,206 million, representing 65%
and 35%, respectively, of total debt. At December 31, 2004, Praxair
had fixed-rate debt of $2,458 million and floating-rate debt of $1,067
million, representing 70% and 30%, respectively, of total debt.
Holding other variables constant (such as foreign exchange rates,
swaps and debt levels), a one-percentage-point decrease in interest
rates would increase the unrealized fair market value of the fixedrate debt by approximately $71 million ($97 million in 2004).
At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the after-tax earnings and cash
flows impact for the subsequent year resulting from a one-percentagepoint increase in interest rates would be approximately $8 million
and $7 million, respectively, holding other variables constant.
Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis

Praxair’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its investments
and ongoing operations in South America (primarily Brazil, Argentina
and Venezuela), Europe (primarily Italy, Spain, and Germany), Canada,
Mexico, Asia (primarily China, India, Korea and Thailand) and
other business transactions such as the procurement of equipment
from foreign sources. Among other techniques, Praxair utilizes foreign
exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures. At December 31,
2005, Praxair had $768 million notional amount ($679 million at
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December 31, 2004) of foreign exchange contracts of which $756
million ($679 million in 2004) were to hedge recorded balance-sheet
exposures or forecasted transactions and $12 million were to hedge
anticipated net income (none at December 31, 2004). At December 31,
2005, Praxair’s net income hedges related to anticipated net income
in South America which settled on January 2, 2006.
Holding other variables constant, if there were a 10% adverse
change in foreign-currency exchange rates for the portfolio, the fair
market value of foreign-currency contracts outstanding at December 31,
2005 and 2004 would decrease by approximately $5 million and $35
million, respectively, which would be offset by an equal but offsetting
gain or loss on the foreign-currency fluctuation of the underlying
exposure being hedged.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
These statements are based on management’s reasonable expectations
and assumptions as of the date the statements are made but involve
risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, without
limitation: the performance of stock markets generally; developments
in worldwide and national economies and other international events
and circumstances; changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates;
the cost and availability of electric power, natural gas and other raw
materials; the ability to achieve price increases to offset cost increases;
catastrophic events; the ability to attract, hire and retain qualified
personnel; the impact of changes in financial accounting standards;
the impact of tax and other legislation and government regulation in
jurisdictions in which the company operates; the cost and outcomes
of litigation and regulatory agency actions; continued timely
development and market acceptance of new products and applications;
the impact of competitive products and pricing; future financial and
operating performance of major customers and industries served; and
the effectiveness and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the
business. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual future results
or circumstances to differ materially from the projections or estimates
contained in the forward-looking statements. The company assumes no
obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking
statement in response to changing circumstances. The above listed
risks and uncertainties are further described in Item 1A (Risk Factors)
in the company’s latest Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider the company’s
forward-looking statements in light of those risks.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Praxair, Inc. (Praxair or company) is one of the largest
industrial gases companies worldwide, the largest in North and South
America. Praxair produces, sells and distributes atmospheric, process
and specialty gases, and high-performance surface coatings to a diverse
group of industries including aerospace, chemicals, electronics, energy,
food and beverage, healthcare, manufacturing and metals.
OPERATIONS –

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION – The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of all significant subsidiaries where control exists
and, in limited situations, variable-interest entities where the company
is the primary beneficiary. Equity investments generally consist of 20%
to 50% owned operations where the company exercises significant
influence. Operations less than 20% owned, where the company does
not exercise significant influence, are generally carried at cost. Pre-tax
income from equity investments that are partnerships or limited-liability
corporations (LLC) is included in Other income (expenses) – net with
related taxes included in Income taxes and remaining equity earnings
are reported as Income from equity investments, net of income taxes.
Partnership and LLC net assets are reported as Equity investments in
the balance sheet. Significant inter-company transactions are eliminated
and any significant related-party transactions have been disclosed.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and to disclose contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements during the reporting
period. While actual results could differ, management believes such
estimates to be reasonable.

USE OF ESTIMATES –

Revenue is recognized when: a firm sales
agreement exists; product is shipped or services are provided to
customers; and collectibility of the fixed or determinable sales price
is reasonably assured. A small portion of the company’s revenues relate
to long-term construction contracts and are generally recognized using
the percentage-of-completion method. Under this method, revenues
from sales of major equipment, such as large air-separation facilities, are
recognized based primarily on cost incurred to date compared with total
estimated cost. Changes to total estimated cost and anticipated losses, if
any, are recognized in the period determined. For contracts that contain
multiple products and/or services, amounts assigned to each component
are based on its objectively determined fair value, such as the sales price
for the component when it is sold separately or competitor prices for

REVENUE RECOGNITION –
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similar components. Certain of the company’s customer contracts qualify
for lease accounting treatment under EITF Issue 01-8, “Determining
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.” The associated revenue
streams are classified as rental revenue and are not significant for the
years ended 2005, 2004 and 2003. Sales returns and allowances are not
a normal practice in the industry and are de minimis.
Amounts billed for shipping and handling fees are recorded
as sales, generally on FOB destination terms, and costs incurred for
shipping and handling are recorded as cost of sales.
Cash equivalents are considered to be highly liquid
securities with original maturities of three months or less.
CASH EQUIVALENTS –

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.
Cost is determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for certain
U.S. operations and the average-cost method for most other operations.

INVENTORIES –

Property, plant and equipment
are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The company
capitalizes interest as part of the cost of constructing major facilities
(see Note 6). Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method
based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3
years to 40 years (see Note 10). Praxair uses accelerated depreciation
methods for tax purposes where appropriate.
The company performs a test for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Should projected
undiscounted future cash flows be less than the carrying amount of
the asset or asset group, an impairment charge reducing the carrying
amount to fair value is required. Fair value is determined based on the
most appropriate valuation technique, including discounted cash flows.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – NET –

An asset-retirement obligation is
recognized in the period in which sufficient information exists to
determine the fair value of the liability with a corresponding increase
to the carrying amount of the related property, plant and equipment
which is then depreciated over its useful life. The liability is initially
measured at discounted fair value and then accretion expense is
recorded in each subsequent period. The company’s asset-retirement
obligations are primarily associated with its on-site long-term supply
arrangements where the company has built a facility on land leased
from the customer and is obligated to remove the facility at the end
of the contract term. The company’s asset-retirement obligations are
not material to its financial statements.
ASSET-RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS –
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For most foreign operations, the local
currency is the functional currency and translation gains and losses
are reported as part of the Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) component of Shareholders’ equity as a cumulative translation
adjustment (see Note 9). For other foreign operations, the U.S. dollar
is the functional currency and translation gains and losses are included
in income.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION –

Praxair enters into various derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest and currency
exchange rates and energy costs. Such instruments primarily include
interest-rate swap agreements; currency swap; forward contracts; and
commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into
for trading purposes. Praxair only uses commonly traded and nonleveraged instruments. There are two types of derivatives the company
enters into: hedges of fair-value exposures and hedges of cash-flow
exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities,
and firm commitments; while cash-flow exposures relate to the
variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or
liabilities, or forecasted transactions.
When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is
appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge or a cash-flow
hedge. Currently, Praxair designates all interest-rate and commodityswap agreements as hedges; however, currency contracts are generally
not designated as hedges for accounting purposes. All derivatives are
linked to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the
company assesses the hedge effectiveness of all derivatives designated as
hedges to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items.
If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fairvalue hedges are recognized in earnings as an offset to the change
in the fair values of the exposures being hedged. The changes in
fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges
are deferred in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
and are recognized in earnings as the underlying hedged transaction
occurs. Any ineffectiveness is recognized in earnings immediately.
Derivatives that are entered into for risk-management purposes and are
not designated as hedges (primarily related to anticipated net income
and currency derivatives other than for firm commitments) are recorded
at their fair market values and recognized in current earnings.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS –
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The company recognizes the changes in the fair value associated
with currency contracts as follows: hedges of debt instruments are
recorded in Interest expense and generally offset the underlying hedged
items; hedges of other balance-sheet exposures, commodity contracts,
forecasted transactions, lease obligations, firm commitments and
anticipated future net income are recognized in Other income (expenses)
– net and generally offset the underlying hedged items; and hedges of
net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in the cumulative
translation adjustment component of Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) on the consolidated balance sheet to offset translation
gains and losses associated with the hedged net investment.
Praxair uses the following methods and assumptions to estimate
the fair value of each class of financial instrument. The fair value of
interest-rate swaps and currency-exchange contracts is estimated based
on market prices obtained from independent dealer or market quotes.
The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on the quoted
market prices for the same or similar issues. Due to their nature, the
carrying value of cash, short-term investments and short-term debt,
receivables and payables approximates fair value.
When a business is acquired, the excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is recorded
as goodwill (see Note 11). Goodwill is reviewed annually in April or
more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment
may have occurred. The impairment test requires that the company
estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their
carrying value. Fair value is determined through the use of projected
future cash flows, multiples of earnings and sales and other factors.

GOODWILL –

Patents are recorded at historical cost and are
amortized over their remaining useful lives. Customer and license/use
agreements, non-compete agreements and other intangibles are
amortized over the estimated period of benefit. The determination of
the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upon the use and
underlying characteristics of the intangible asset. Praxair evaluates the
recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amortization when facts
and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not
be recoverable. If the carrying value is not recoverable, impairment is
measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its
estimated fair value. Fair value is generally estimated based on either
appraised value or other valuation techniques.
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS –
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Deferred income taxes are recorded for the temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are
established against deferred tax assets whenever circumstances indicate
that it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized in
future periods. The provision for income taxes includes probable
exposures for tax matters and related interest and penalties when
assessed, if applicable.

INCOME TAXES –

Most Praxair employees
worldwide are covered by various pension plans. The cost of pension
benefits under these plans is determined using the projected-unitcredit actuarial cost method. Funding of pension plans varies and is
in accordance with local laws and practices.
Praxair accrues the cost of retiree life and health insurance
benefits during the employees’ service period when such benefits are
earned.

PENSION AND OTHER RETIREMENT PROGRAMS –

pro forma earnings per share amounts as if compensation expense
was recognized based on fair values for options granted after 1994.
Pro forma net income and the related basic and diluted earnings per
share amounts would be as follows:
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004*

2003 *

$ 697

$ 585

(28)

(28)

NET INCOME

As reported
Less: total stock-based employee
compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all
awards, net of related tax effects

$ 726

Pro forma net income

$ 700

$ 669

$ 557

$2.24
$2.16

$2.14
$2.05

$1.79
$1.71

$2.20
$2.12

$2.10
$2.02

$1.77
$1.68

(26)

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

As reported
Pro forma
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Praxair recognizes the estimated cost
of future benefits provided to former and inactive employees after
employment but before retirement on the accrual basis.
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS –

On October 28, 2003, Praxair’s board of directors
declared a two-for-one split of the company’s common stock. The stock
split was effected in the form of a stock dividend of one additional share
for each share owned by stockholders of record on December 5, 2003,
and each share held in treasury as of the record date. Information
pertaining to shares, earnings per share and dividends per share has
been restated in the accompanying financial statements.

STOCK SPLIT –

Praxair accounts for incentive plans and
stock options using the provisions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Pro forma
information required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(SFAS) 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended
by SFAS 148, requires Praxair to disclose pro forma net income and
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION –

As reported
Pro forma

*Pro forma net income amounts have been decreased by $1 million in each of 2004 and 2003 ($0.00 and $0.01 per
diluted share, respectively) from amounts previously reported, reflecting a change in expense recognition
methodology related to full-retirement-eligible employees in accordance with the required provisions of SFAS 123R.
SFAS 123R requires Praxair to recognize the compensation cost related to stock option awards granted to fullretirement-eligible employees over the period from the grant date to the date retirement eligibility is achieved
(currently 1 year). Previously, Praxair recognized compensation cost over the nominal vesting period (generally 3
years). As a result, when Praxair adopts SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006, compensation cost will be stated
consistently with the prior periods’ pro forma amounts.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2005
was $10.16 ($10.67 in 2004 and $9.24 in 2003). These values, which
were used as a basis for the pro forma disclosures, were estimated using
the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model with the following weightedaverage assumptions used for grants in 2005, 2004 and 2003:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term years

2005
1.6%
22.7%
3.9%
5

2004

2003

1.4%
32.5%
3.0%
5

1.3%
36.5%
2.9%
6

These pro forma disclosures may not be representative of the
effects for future years as options vest over several years and additional
awards generally are made each year. Refer to the discussion below
addressing the issuance of SFAS No. 123R.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 106-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,”
which provides guidance on how to account for the impact of the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act
of 2003 on post-retirement health care plans. See Note 18 where
the company addresses the impact of the subsidy.
In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” entitled SFAS
No. 123 (revised 2004), (or “SFAS 123R”), “Share-Based Payment.”
This statement, among other things, requires companies to expense
the value of employee stock options and similar awards and becomes
effective for interim and annual periods beginning in the first annual
period beginning after June 15, 2005, and applies to all outstanding
and unvested share-based payment awards at the company’s adoption
date. Praxair will adopt the provisions of this statement for its interim
period beginning January 1, 2006. This statement’s provisions are
expected to reduce diluted earnings per share by about $0.08 per year
or $0.02 per quarter once adopted. See Note 17 for information related
to incentive plans and stock options.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges
of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.”
SFAS No. 153 specifies the criteria required to record a nonmonetary
exchange using the carryover basis. The company adopted SFAS No.
153 as of July 1, 2005 and will apply the provisions of this statement
prospectively to nonmonetary asset exchange transactions. The adoption
of this statement did not have a material impact on the company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (FIN)
47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
provides guidance on when a company has sufficient information to
reasonably estimate an asset-retirement obligation’s fair value under
the provisions of SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.” See Note 2 for information related to the adoption of
FIN 47.
In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections – a replacement of APB Opinion No.
20 and FASB Statement No. 3.” SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective
application for changes in accounting principle whenever practicable,

rather than including the cumulative effect of an accounting change
in net income in the period of change. SFAS No. 154 applies to
voluntary changes in accounting principle and also changes required
by new accounting pronouncements if specific transition provisions
are not provided. This statement is effective for Praxair beginning
January 1, 2006.
In September 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
ratified EITF 04-13, “Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory
with the Same Counterparty.” This issue addresses the circumstances
under which two or more inventory purchase and sales transactions
with the same counterparty should be viewed as a single exchange
transaction and whether there are circumstances under which such
nonmonetary exchanges should be accounted for at fair value.
The adoption of this interpretation is effective for new or modified
agreements for fiscal periods beginning after March 15, 2006.
Praxair is in the process of evaluating the impact of this issue on
the company’s consolidated financial statements.
Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassified
to conform to the current year’s presentation.
RECLASSIFICATIONS –

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE
Praxair adopted FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations,” effective December 31, 2005. This
interpretation provides guidance on when a company has sufficient
information to reasonably estimate an asset-retirement obligation’s
fair value as required under SFAS 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations.” Under FIN 47, uncertainty as to the
timing and/or method of settlement of a conditional asset-retirement
obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability
when sufficient information exists. At December 31, 2005, the
company recognized transition amounts for existing asset-retirement
obligation liabilities, associated capitalizable costs and accumulated
depreciation to date. An after-tax transition charge of $6 million was
recorded as the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
for the year ended December 31, 2005.

3. ACQUISITIONS
The results of operations of the following acquired businesses have
been included in Praxair’s consolidated statements of income since
their respective dates of acquisition.
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Constar LLC

On December 31, 2005, Praxair acquired the packaged gas business
and facilities of Constar LLC for a purchase price of $31 million.
The acquisition resulted in approximately $12 million of goodwill.
The business includes 10 facilities in Georgia, Tennessee and South
Carolina which fill and distribute high-pressure industrial, medical
and specialty-gas cylinders and other gas containers. Constar also
operates several retail stores for the sale of welding and related
equipment, supplies and services. The acquisition facilitated Praxair’s
expansion into a new geography and strengthened the company’s
ability to serve customers throughout North America.
The allocations of the excess purchase price are based upon
preliminary estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, the allocations
are subject to revision when the company receives final information,
including appraisals and other analyses.
German Acquisition

On December 2, 2004, Praxair acquired certain industrial gas assets
and related businesses in Germany for a purchase price of €497 million
plus acquisition and other costs of €7 million (or $667 million as of
the date of acquisition). The acquisition resulted in approximately
$258 million of goodwill. Intangible assets acquired of approximately
$28 million consist of covenants not to compete, land rights and other
intangible assets which are being amortized over a weighted-average
life of 10 years. The purchase was funded largely by a €450 million,
five-year revolving-credit arrangement which Praxair entered into with
a syndicate of international banks in November 2004 (see Note 13).
The assets and businesses acquired consist of industrial gas plants and
pipeline assets in the Rhine/Ruhr and Saar areas, and bulk distribution
and packaged gas businesses. The businesses serve large customers in
the refining, chemical and steel industries along the pipeline systems,
plus smaller customers in bulk, medical, specialty and packaged gases.
The acquisition significantly strengthened Praxair’s operations in the
Germany/Benelux region.
Home Care Supply (HCS)

On June 15, 2004, Praxair acquired 100% of the outstanding common
shares of Home Care Supply, Inc. (HCS) for a purchase price of $245
million. The acquisition resulted in approximately $172 million of

goodwill. Intangible assets acquired of approximately $12 million
consist of customer relationships and covenants not to compete
which are being amortized over a weighted-average life of 3 years.
Headquartered in Beaumont, Texas, HCS was a privately held homerespiratory and medical-equipment provider in the United States.
The acquisition expanded Praxair’s home-healthcare presence from
the mid-Atlantic to Texas, provides an excellent platform for sustained
growth and will further accelerate Praxair’s hospital-to-home strategy.
Other acquisitions in 2005, 2004 and 2003 were not significant.

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The company’s operations are organized into five reportable segments,
four of which have been determined on a geographic basis of
segmentation: North America, Europe, South America and Asia.
In addition, Praxair operates its worldwide surface technologies business
through its wholly owned subsidiary, Praxair Surface Technologies, Inc.,
which represents the fifth reportable segment.
Praxair’s operations consist of two major product lines: industrial
gases and surface technologies. The industrial gases product line centers
on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxygen,
nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium,
hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these
products are co-products of the same manufacturing process. Praxair
manufactures and distributes nearly all of its products and manages its
customer relationships on a regional basis. Praxair’s industrial gases are
distributed to various end markets within a regional segment through
one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage; merchant
liquid; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are
generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very
few of its products can be economically transported outside of a region.
Therefore, the distribution economics are specific to the various
geographies in which the company operates and is consistent with
how management assesses performance.
Praxair evaluates the performance of its reportable segments
based primarily on operating profit, excluding inter-company royalties
and special charges. Sales are determined based on the country in which
the legal subsidiary is domiciled. Corporate and globally managed
expenses, and research and development costs relating to Praxair’s
global industrial gases business, are allocated to operating segments
based on sales. Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment,
other intangible assets and goodwill.
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The table below presents information about reported segments
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005

2004

2003

$4,680
1,105
1,126
543
475
(273)

$4,191
847
866
487
447
(244)

$3,627
699
708
389
400
(210)

$7,656

$6,594

$5,613

$ 685
263
202
95
48

$ 623
214
152
80
34

$ 548
170
114
64
26

$1,293

$1,103

$ 922

$5,500
1,706
1,764
977
544

$5,210
1,866
1,405
847
550

$4,638
1,145
1,275
707
540

$10,491

$9,878

$8,305

$ 373
101
91
63
37

$ 344
72
70
55
37

$ 313
59
60
50
35

$ 665

$ 578

$ 517

$ 517
107
154
126
17

$ 573
756
96
153
19

$ 763
115
88
56
34

$ 921

$1,597

$1,056

$3,659
941
3,056

$3,367
700
2,527

$2,834
557
2,222

$7,656

$6,594

$5,613

SALES

OPERATING PROFIT

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND ACQUISITIONS

North America (Notes 3 and 5)
Europe (Note 3)
South America
Asia
Surface technologies

SALES BY MAJOR COUNTRY

United States
Brazil
Other – foreign
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2004

2003

United States
Brazil
Germany (Note 3)
Other – foreign

$3,457
1,010
602
2,665

$3,454
813
746
2,572

$3,260
765
68
2,290

$7,734

$7,585

$6,383

2005

2004

2003

$ 54
126
—
38

$ 52
132
—
26

$ 53
110
1
18

$ 218

$210

$182

a) Includes equity investments as of December 31 as follows:

(Millions of dollars)

North America
Europe
Surface technologies
Asia

5. LEASES

TOTAL ASSETS (a)

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies

2005
LONG-LIVED ASSETS BY MAJOR COUNTRY

(Millions of dollars)

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface technologies
Eliminations

(Millions of dollars)

Operating leases, primarily involving manufacturing and distribution
equipment and office space, represent non-cancelable commitments
extending for more than one year which require future minimum
payments totaling $334 million at December 31, 2005 as follows:
2006, $81 million; 2007, $60 million; 2008, $46 million; 2009, $34
million; 2010, $24 million and $89 million thereafter. The present
value of these future lease payments under operating leases is
approximately $269 million. Included in the future minimum
payments are $8 million of lease commitments to Praxair’s former
parent company, principally for office space. Total lease and rental
expenses under operating leases were $96 million in 2005, $88 million
in 2004, and $93 million in 2003.
During June 2003, Praxair terminated leases for U.S. liquid storage
equipment and distribution equipment, and for production facilities along
the U.S. Gulf Coast and purchased the underlying equipment for a total of
$339 million. The equipment leases originated in 1998 and 1999 in saleleaseback transactions. On June 30, 2003, Praxair purchased the equipment
for $230 million and reduced the carrying value of the equipment by
deferred gains of $152 million from the original sale-leaseback transactions.
The U.S. Gulf Coast leases were initiated by CBI Industries, Inc. (CBI) and
were subsequently assumed by Praxair in its acquisition of CBI in 1996.
On June 27, 2003, Praxair terminated the leases and purchased the
production facility assets for approximately $109 million.
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6. SUPPLEMENTARY INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

7. INCOME TAXES

(Millions of dollars)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Pre-tax income applicable to U.S. and foreign operations is as follows:
2005

2004

2003
(Millions of dollars)

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling
General and administrative

$ 475
512

$424
445

$375
391

$ 987

$869

$766

$ 649
16

$565
13

$510
7

The following is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:

$ 665

$578

$517

(Millions of dollars)

$ (5)
1
23
(10)
—
20
(8)
(16)
5

$ (2)
(1)
15
(10)
13
—
—
—
5

$ (9)
(4)
10
(12)
—
—
—
—
10

$ 10

$ 20

$ (5)

$167
(7)
(5)

$165
(9)
(5)

$155

$151

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation
Amortization of other intangibles

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) – NET

Net income hedges (Note 14)
Other currency
Partnership income
Severance expense
Resolution of prior divestiture matter
Customer obligation settlement
St. Louis distribution facility fire
U.S. Gulf Coast hurricanes impact (a)
Other – net

2004

2003

United States
Foreign

$ 304
826

$281
667

$213
558

Total income before income taxes

$ 1,130

$948

$771

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

INTEREST EXPENSE

$ 163

2005

2004

2003

$ 56
10
110

$ 41
4
98

$ 39
1
101

176

143

141

79
121

41
48

(9)
42

200

89

33

$ 376

$232

$174

CURRENT TAX EXPENSE

U.S. Federal
State and local
Foreign

DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

U.S. Federal
Foreign (a)

Total income taxes

Interest incurred on debt
$ 179
Interest capitalized
(11)
Amortization of swap termination costs (Note 14)
(5)

(a)

2005

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(a)

2005 includes $67 million related to valuation allowance adjustments, primarily in Brazil.

Amount represents a charge for fixed asset write-offs and insurance matters related to 2005 Hurricanes Katrina
and Rita.

An analysis of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to
pre-tax income follows:
(Dollar amounts in millions)

2005

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2004

2003

U.S. statutory income tax rate
State and local taxes – net of federal benefit
U.S. tax credits and deductions (a)
Foreign tax rate differentials (b)
Repatriation and other foreign tax adjustments (c)
Tax audit settlements (d)
Other – net

$395
4
(8)
(103)
92
(1)
(3)

35.0%
0.4%
-0.7%
-9.1%
8.1%
-0.1%
-0.3%

$332
6
(13)
(87)
(3)
(3)

Provision for income taxes

$376

33.3%

$232

24.5%

—

35.0%
0.6%
-1.3%
-9.2%

$270
1
(23)
(53)

35.0%
0.1%
-3.0%
-6.8%

—

—

—

-0.3%
-0.3%

(10)
(11)

-1.3%
-1.4%

$174

22.6%

U.S. tax credits and deductions relate to research and experimentation tax credits, capital loss deductions and donations of certain intellectual property.
Foreign tax rate differentials include various tax incentives in Spain. The company also operates in various jurisdictions in Asia and South America that currently offer tax holidays. In 2005, a net $9-million income-tax benefit was recorded
in Europe related principally to a tax legislation change.
(c)
Tax charge related to the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 ($67 million) and other foreign tax adjustments made to tax reserves and valuation allowances ($25 million).
(d)
The tax audit settlements represent non-recurring benefits resulting from the settlement of various tax matters in the U.S.
(a)
(b)
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During 2005, Praxair recorded a $92-million income-tax charge,
or $0.28 per diluted share, related to the repatriation of undistributed
earnings and other tax adjustments:
• Pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act),
Praxair executed a plan to repatriate $1.1 billion of undistributed
earnings from certain of its foreign subsidiaries, the maximum
amount allowed under the Act. Prior to the Act, Praxair had
planned to reinvest these funds indefinitely. The Act allows
U.S. companies to repatriate foreign earnings in 2005 with a
one-time temporary 85% exclusion for certain dividends received.
The repatriation plan was completed in 2005 and is estimated to
result in an income tax expense of $67 million.
• As part of the repatriation planning effort, the company also
analyzed its worldwide capital structure and tax-planning
opportunities. As a result, the company identified available
tax-planning opportunities in a Brazilian subsidiary which will
be utilized to eliminate its future taxable income. Additionally,
Praxair obtained Brazilian central bank approval to renew certain
of its local debt, resulting in significant future tax deductions,
and there were favorable developments on a prior-year tax matter.
As a result of these events, management determined that it is
unlikely that existing net operating loss carry forwards (NOLs) in
Brazil, which can be used to eliminate only 30% of the taxable
income in any given year, will be utilized and that certain related
tax reserves are not required. Accordingly, Praxair recorded a 100%
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets related to existing
NOLs and eliminated other tax reserves on a related tax matter,
resulting in a non-cash income tax charge of $44 million. In addition,
favorable developments related to various income tax matters resulted
in a non-cash benefit of $19 million. This benefit was primarily
related to a tax matter in Spain reflecting a recent favorable ruling.

52

During 2004, the taxing authority in Mexico decreased its top
marginal tax rate and during 2003, the taxing authority in Italy decreased
its top marginal rate. The effects of the tax-rate changes were immaterial.
Net deferred tax liabilities included in the consolidated balance
sheet are comprised of the following:
(Millions of dollars)
DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004

$ 861
12
62

$832
12
35

$ 935

$879

$ 280
109
85
25
44
11
125

$327
84
127
60
58
12
91

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Fixed assets
State and local
Other

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Carryforwards
Minimum pension liability
Benefit plans and related
U.S. alternative minimum tax credits
Research and development
Inventory
Other
Less: Valuation allowances

679
(206)

759
(112)

$ 473

$647

NET DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

$ 462

$232

Recorded as:
Current deferred tax assets (Note 9)
Long-term deferred tax liabilities (Note 9)

$ 112
574

$ 85
317

$ 462

$232
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Praxair evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that
estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g.
capital gain versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing
to result in their recovery. After considering the positive and negative
evidence, a valuation allowance is established when management
determines that it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset
will not be realized to reduce the assets to their realizable value.
Considerable judgment is required in establishing deferred tax
valuation allowances. At December 31, 2005, Praxair had $280
million of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses (primarily
foreign) and other tax credit carryforwards (primarily U.S.). Of this
amount, $206 million related primarily to NOLs in a Brazilian
subsidiary, for which Praxair increased its valuation allowance to
100% in 2005. The valuation allowance increase in 2005 is primarily
related to Brazilian NOLs along with related currency movements.
The remaining $74 million of carryforwards expire principally through
2018 and no valuation allowances are required. At December 31, 2005,
Praxair also had U.S. alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of
$25 million that do not expire and for which no valuation allowance
is required.
A provision has not been made for additional U.S. Federal or
foreign taxes at December 31, 2005 on $1.3 billion of undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries because Praxair intends to reinvest
these funds indefinitely to support foreign growth opportunities.
It is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability
on these undistributed earnings. These earnings could become subject
to additional tax if they are remitted as dividends, loaned to Praxair,
or upon sale of the subsidiary’s stock.
During 2005, the IRS completed its audit and issued its final
assessment related to Praxair’s U.S. Federal income tax returns for 2000
through 2002 tax years, resulting in an immaterial adjustment to its
consolidated financial statements. The company is currently undergoing
an IRS audit for its 2003 and 2004 tax years.

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the
period by the weighted average number of Praxair common shares
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net
income for the period by the weighted average number of Praxair
common shares outstanding and dilutive common stock equivalents,
as follows:
2005

2004

2003

$ 732

$697

$585

(6)

—

—

$ 726

$697

$585

322,658

324,706

325,198

1,107

1,185

1,190

323,765

325,891

326,388

146
5,774

205
5,307

269
4,334

329,685

331,403

330,991

$2.26
$2.24

$2.14
$2.14

$1.79
$1.79

$2.22
$2.20

$2.10
$2.10

$1.77
$1.77

NUMERATOR (Millions of Dollars)

Income before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle
Net income
DENOMINATOR (Thousands of Shares)

Weighted average shares outstanding
Shares earned and issuable under
compensation plans
Weighted average shares used
in basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive securities
Convertible debt
Employee stock options
Weighted average shares used
in diluted earnings per share
BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Income before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle
Net income
DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Income before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle
Net income

Stock options for 74,200 and 40,000 shares were not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended
December 31 2005, and 2004, respectively, because the exercise
prices were greater than the average market price of the common stock.
In 2003, no stock options were excluded from the computation.
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9. SUPPLEMENTARY BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

(Millions of dollars)

2005

2004

$

574
53

$ 317
28

$

627

$ 345

DECEMBER 31,
(Millions of dollars)

DEFERRED CREDITS

2005

2004

$1,363
101

$ 1,229
65

DECEMBER 31,
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade
Other

1,464
(78)

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (a)

1,294
(63)

$1,386

$ 1,231

$

$

INVENTORIES (b)

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods

90
67
216

87
37
204

$ 373

$ 328

$ 112
53
36

$

$ 201

$ 160

PREPAID AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Deferred income taxes (Note 7)
Prepaid
Other

85
34
41

Deferred income taxes (Note 7)
Other

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Cumulative translation adjustment
North America
South America (d)
Europe
Asia
Surface technologies
Derivatives – net of taxes
Minimum pension liability (net of $109 million and
$84 million taxes in 2005 and 2004, respectively)

$

81
72
90
48
13
11
91

$

72
70
47
33
13
12
92

$ 406

$ 339

$ 202
104
127
33
28
12
10
126

$ 200
101
114
31
26
12
9
102

$ (142)
(955)
91
(41)
25

(1,050)
(1)

(1,022)
(1)

(206)

(157)

$(1,257)

$(1,180)

(a)

Provisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts were $36 million, $24 million, and $26 million in 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. The remaining allowance activity in each period related primarily to write-offs of
uncollectible amounts, net of recoveries.

(b)

Approximately 16% and 19% of total inventories were valued using the LIFO method at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. If inventories had been valued at current costs, they would have been approximately $21 million
and $24 million higher than reported at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(c)

Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPEB
obligations (see Note 18).

(d)

Consists primarily of currency translation adjustments in Brazil and Argentina.

OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Pension assets (Note 18)
Insurance contracts (c)
Long-term receivables
Deposits
Investments carried at cost
Deferred charges
Other

$ (112)
(852)
(52)
(40)
6

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – NET
Significant classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses
Payrolls
Pension and postretirement costs (Note 18)
Interest payable
Employee benefit accrual
Severance
Insurance reserves
Other

$ 642

$ 595
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2005

$ 421
32
380

$ 467
34
448

$ 833

$ 949

2004

Machinery and equipment
Buildings
Construction in progress and other
Land and land improvements

$11,133
734
550
244

$ 10,674
718
403
239

Less: accumulated depreciation

12,661
(6,553)

12,034
(6,088)

$ 6,108

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Pension and postretirement costs (Note 18)
Insurance reserves
Other

(Millions of dollars)

$ 5,946

Machinery and equipment includes production plants, tanks,
cylinders, transportation equipment and other assets that have useful
lives of 3 years to 30 years. Buildings have useful lives of 25 years to
40 years and land improvements have useful lives of up to 20 years.
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11. GOODWILL
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
NORTH
AMERICA

(Millions of dollars)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2003

Acquisitions
Purchase adjustments
Foreign currency translation
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2004

Acquisitions
Purchase adjustments (a)
Foreign currency translation
Other
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2005
(a)

SOUTH
AMERICA

EUROPE

ASIA

SURFACE
TECHNOLOGIES

TOTAL

$ 784
180
(1)
11

$124
—
—
14

$ 66
255
(1)
11

$ 26
1
—
1

$ 75
—
—
5

$ 1,075
436
(2)
42

974
18
(7)
6
—

138
1
—
22
—

331
2
4
(44)
—

28
—
—
(1)
(1)

80
—
—
(6)
—

1,551
21
(3)
(23)
(1)

$991

$161

$293

$26

$74

$1,545

Purchase adjustments in North America pertain primarily to the resolution of prior-year tax matters. Purchase adjustments in Europe relate to the December 2004 German acquisition. The adjustments to goodwill
had no impact on the income statement.

The annual impairment tests required by SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for 2003, 2004 and 2005 were performed during
the second quarter of each year and no impairments were indicated.

12. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2005

The following is a summary of Praxair’s other intangible assets at
December 31, 2005 and 2004:
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2004

CUSTOMER &
NONLICENSE/USE
COMPETE
AGREEMENTS AGREEMENTS

Cost:
Balance, December 31, 2003
Additions
Foreign currency translation
Other

PATENTS &
OTHER

TOTAL

$ 41

$ 31

$ 17

$ 89

28
1
—

14
—
(9)

1
—
(1)

43
1
(10)

Balance, December 31, 2004

70

36

17

123

Less: accumulated amortization:
Balance, December 31, 2003
Amortization expense
Foreign currency translation
Other

(10)
(8)
—
—

(20)
(4)
—
11

(3)
(1)
—
—

(33)
(13)
—
11

Balance, December 31, 2004

(18)

(13)

(4)

(35)

$ 52

$ 23

$ 13

$ 88

Net balance at December 31, 2004

CUSTOMER &
NONLICENSE/USE
COMPETE
AGREEMENTS AGREEMENTS

Cost:
Balance, December 31, 2004
Additions
Foreign currency translation
Other

PATENTS &
OTHER

TOTAL

$ 70
7
(3)
(3)

$ 36
5
(1)
(2)

$ 17
—
—
—

$ 123
12
(4)
(5)

Balance, December 31, 2005

71

38

17

126

Less: accumulated amortization:
Balance, December 31, 2004
Amortization expense
Foreign currency translation
Other

(18)
(8)
1
3

(13)
(7)
—
2

(4)
(1)
—
—

(35)
(16)
1
5

Balance, December 31, 2005

(22)

(18)

(5)

(45)

$ 49

$ 20

$ 12

$ 81

Net balance at December 31, 2005

There are no expected residual values related to these intangible
assets. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004, and 2003 was $16 million, $13 million, and $7 million,
respectively. The remaining weighted-average amortization period
for intangible assets is approximately 12 years. Total estimated annual
amortization expense is as follows: 2006, $15 million; 2007, $13
million; 2008, $8 million; 2009, $7 million; 2010, $5 million and
$33 million thereafter.
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13. DEBT
The following is a summary of Praxair’s outstanding debt at December
31, 2005 and 2004:
(Millions of dollars)

2005

2004

SHORT-TERM

Commercial paper and U.S. bank borrowings
Canadian borrowings
South American borrowings
Asian borrowings
Other international borrowings

—
91
32
95
13

$ 296
83
39
29
7

231
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U.S. Borrowings
6.85% Notes due 2005
6.90% Notes due 2006
4.75% Notes due 2007 (a)
6.625% Notes due 2007
6.50% Notes due 2008
2.75% Notes due 2008 (a)
6.375% Notes due 2012 (a, b)
3.95% Notes due 2013 (a)
Other borrowings

—
250
250
250
250
299
529
349
9

150
250
249
250
250
299
534
349
23

European borrowings (c)
Canadian borrowings (c)
South American borrowings
Asian borrowings
Other international borrowings
Obligations under capital lease

786
140
54
34
4
12

613
—
48
39
5
12

Total short-term debt

$

LONG-TERM

3,216
(290)

3,071

Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt

2,926

2,876

$3,447

$ 3,525

Total debt

(195)

(a)

Amounts are net of unamortized discounts.

(b)

December 31, 2005 and 2004 include a $30 million and $35 million fair value increase, respectively, related to
SFAS 133 hedge accounting (see Note 14).

(c)

Classified as long-term because of the company’s intent to refinance this debt on a long-term basis and the
availability of such financing under the terms of the respective agreements.

In November 2005, the company entered into a five-year, $400million revolving credit facility and a five-year, $200-million revolving
credit facility with a syndicate of international banks. At December 31,
2005, $253 million and $140 million were outstanding against the
$400-million facility and $200-million facility at a weighted-average
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interest rate of 2.63% and 3.76%, respectively. The company has the
ability to draw against each facility in one of four currencies in amounts
not to exceed the then U.S. dollar equivalent of $400 million and $200
million, respectively. The proceeds under each facility were used to
finance the repatriation of undistributed earnings pursuant to the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The funds that were repatriated
from foreign affiliates were temporarily used in the United States
primarily to repay short-term borrowings and commercial paper.
During 2005, Praxair repaid $150 million of 6.85% notes that
were due on June 15, 2005. The repayment was funded through the
issuance of commercial paper.
In November 2004, the company entered into a €450-million,
five-year borrowing facility with a syndicate of international banks.
As of December 31, 2005, the amount outstanding against this facility
was €450 million, or $533 million (€450 million, or $613 million at
December 31, 2004). The proceeds were used to acquire the German
assets referenced in Note 3. The weighted-average interest rate on this
facility at December 31, 2005 was 2.7% (2.5% at December 31, 2004).
During November 2005, Praxair exercised its right to extend
the maturity of its $1-billion senior unsecured credit facility with a
syndicate of banks by one year, from 2009 to 2010, in accordance with
the terms of the original agreement. The $1-billion senior unsecured
credit facility entered into by Praxair in December 2004 replaced the
previously existing $1-billion credit agreement. No borrowings were
outstanding under the credit agreement at December 31, 2005 or 2004.
Associated fees were not significant in each of the past three years.
At December 31, 2004, the weighted-average interest rate on
commercial paper and U.S. bank borrowings was 1.5%. No amounts
were outstanding at December 31, 2005.
Praxair’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements
contain various covenants which may, among other things, restrict
the ability of Praxair to merge with another entity, incur or guarantee
debt, sell or transfer certain assets, create liens against assets, enter
into sale and leaseback agreements, or pay dividends and make other
distributions beyond certain limits. These agreements also require
Praxair to meet a leverage ratio as defined in the agreements.
Scheduled maturities on long-term debt are as follows: 2006,
$290 million; 2007, $541 million; 2008, $564 million; 2009, $542
million; 2010, $400 million and $879 million thereafter. Borrowings
of $533 million under the €450 million credit facility are included in
2009 and borrowings of $253 million and $140 million of the $400
million and $200 million credit facilities, respectively, are included in
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2010 due to the company’s intent to refinance the debt on a long-term
basis and the availability of such financing under the terms of the
respective facilities. At December 31, 2005, $125 million of Praxair’s
assets (principally international fixed assets) were pledged as collateral
for long-term debt, including the current portion of long-term debt.
At December 31, 2005, the estimated fair value of Praxair’s longterm debt portfolio was $3,176 million versus a carrying value of
$3,216 million. At December 31, 2004, the estimated fair value of
Praxair’s long-term debt portfolio was $3,176 million versus a carrying
value of $3,071 million. These differences are attributable to interestrate changes subsequent to when the debt was issued.

January 2, 2006. There were no net-income hedges outstanding at
December 31, 2004. The amounts recorded in Other income (expenses)
– net as a result of net-income hedging contracts included a loss of $5
million, $2 million and $9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively (see Note 6).
Counterparties to currency-exchange forward contracts are
primarily major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment
grade or better and no collateral is required. There are no significant
risk concentrations. Management believes the risk of incurring losses on
derivative contracts related to credit risk is remote and any losses would
be immaterial.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest Rate Swaps

The following table is a summary of the notional amount of currency
derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004 (all maturities
within one year):
(Millions of dollars)

Currency contracts
Balance sheet items
Anticipated net income
Forecasted transactions

2005

2004

$749
12
7

$679
—
—

$768

$679

At December 31, 2005, the fair value of all derivative contracts has
been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as $6 million in current
liabilities ($11 million in current assets at December 31, 2004). There were
no interest-rate derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2005 or 2004.

There were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding at December
31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
During 2002, Praxair entered into and terminated $500 million
notional amount of interest-rate swap agreements that effectively
converted fixed-rate interest to variable-rate interest on the $500 million
6.375% notes that mature in April 2012. The termination resulted in a
cash gain of $47 million, which Praxair recognized in earnings and was
equally offset with a charge to earnings for the changes in the fair value
of the underlying debt instrument. This debt increase of $47 million is
being recognized in earnings as a reduction to interest expense over the
remaining term of the underlying debt, or about ten years. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, $5 million was recognized in earnings as a
reduction to interest expense ($5 million during each of the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003) and $30 million remains unrecognized at
December 31, 2005 ($35 million at December 31, 2004) (see Note 13).

15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Currency Contracts

Praxair enters into currency exchange forward contracts to manage its
exposure to fluctuations in foreign-currency exchange rates. Hedges of
balance-sheet items are related to recorded balance-sheet exposures,
including intercompany transactions. Hedges of forecasted transactions
are for the purchase of equipment related to in-progress construction
projects and have been designated as hedges for accounting purposes.
The impact of the hedges of forecasted transactions will not be
significant. Additionally, at December 31, 2005, there was $104
million of notional value of currency-exchange contracts that effectively
offset ($14 million at December 31, 2004).
The net-income hedges outstanding at December 31, 2005 were
related to anticipated net income in South America which settled on

At December 31, 2005, there were 800,000,000 shares of common
stock authorized (par value $0.01 per share) of which 363,712,929
shares were issued and 322,338,799 were outstanding.
In 2004, the board of directors of Praxair declared a dividend of
one purchase right (a Right) for each share of Praxair’s common stock
held of record at the close of business on April 30, 2004; and that
dividend was paid on May 3, 2004. On May 3, 2004, all prior Rights
then outstanding expired. In addition, one Right is deemed to be
delivered with and attached to each share of Praxair’s common stock
issued after April 30, 2004 and before the redemption or expiration of
the Rights. Each Right entitles its registered holder, when exercised
under certain circumstances, to purchase for $150.00 (subject to
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adjustment and referred to as the “Exercise Price”) certain securities
or assets of Praxair or a surviving entity. The Rights will expire on
May 2, 2009, unless exchanged or redeemed prior to that date or
unless extended by action of Praxair’s stockholders prior to that date.
The redemption price is $0.001 per Right.
The Rights may not be exercised until at least 10 days after a
person or group acquires 20 percent or more of Praxair’s common stock,
or commences a tender offer that, if consummated, would result in 20
percent or more ownership of Praxair’s common stock. Separate Rights
certificates will not be issued and the Rights will not be traded
separately from the stock until such time. At no time will a Right
confer any voting power to its holder.
Should an acquirer become the beneficial owner of 20 percent
or more of Praxair’s common stock (other than as approved by Praxair’s
board of directors) and under certain additional circumstances, Praxair
Right-holders (other than the acquirer) would have the right to buy
common stock in Praxair, or in the surviving entity if Praxair is
acquired, having a value of two times the Exercise Price then in effect.
Alternatively, Praxair’s board of directors may elect to exchange all of
the Rights (other than the acquirer’s Rights which will have become
void) at an exchange ratio of one share of Praxair common stock (and/or
other securities, cash or other assets having equal value) per Right
(subject to adjustment). Also, under certain circumstances, each Right
may entitle the holder to purchase one one-hundredth share of preferred
stock or such amount of preferred stock may be substituted for each
share of common stock issuable upon the exercise or exchange of a Right.
Praxair’s board of directors may redeem the Rights by a majority
vote at any time prior to the 10th day following public announcement
that a person or group has acquired 20 percent of Praxair’s common
stock. In addition, under circumstances of a “qualifying offer” as
defined in the agreement by which the Rights were issued (the
Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement as approved by Praxair’s
shareholders at the April 27, 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders)
the Rights may be redeemed upon the vote, at a special meeting, in
favor of such redemption by shareholders representing a majority of
the shares then outstanding.

16. PREFERRED STOCK
At December 31, 2005 and 2004, there were 25,000,000 shares of
preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share) authorized, of which no shares
were issued and outstanding. Praxair’s board of directors may from time
to time authorize the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock
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and, in connection with the creation of such series, determine the
characteristics of each such series including, without limitation, the
preference and relative, participating, optional or other special rights,
and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the series.

17. INCENTIVE PLANS AND STOCK OPTIONS
In February 2005, the board of directors of the company adopted
the 2005 Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors of
Praxair, Inc. (the 2005 Plan) subject to and effective upon shareholder
approval. The shareholders approved the 2005 Plan at Praxair’s annual
meeting in April 2005. The 2005 Plan replaced the 1995 Stock Option
Plan for Non-Employee Directors which was terminated concurrently
with the shareholders’ approval of the 2005 Plan. Under the 2005 Plan,
the aggregate number of shares available for option and other equity
grants is limited to a total of 500,000 shares. As of December 31,
2005, 493,800 shares remained available for equity grants under the
2005 Plan. All non-employee directors of the company are eligible
for grants under the 2005 Plan.
In February 2001, the board of directors of the company adopted
the 2002 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2002 Plan),
which became effective on January 1, 2002. The shareholders approved
the 2002 Plan at Praxair’s annual meeting in April 2001. Under the
2002 Plan, the initial aggregate number of shares available for option
and other equity grants was limited to a total of 15,800,000 shares.
In April 2004, the shareholders approved an increase to the aggregate
number of shares available for option and other equity grants under the
2002 plan to 31,600,000 shares. As of December 31, 2005, 17,546,449
shares remained available for equity grants under this plan. The 2002
Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified and incentive stock
options, stock grants and performance awards and further provides
that the aggregate number of shares granted as restricted stock or
pursuant to performance awards may not exceed 20% of the total
shares available under the Plan. The 2002 Plan also provides calendar
year per-participant limits on grants of options, restricted stock and
performance awards. Both officer and non-officer employees are
eligible for awards under the 2002 Plan.
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Exercise prices for options granted under the 2002 and 2005
Plans may not be less than the closing market price of the company’s
common stock on the date of grant and granted options may not be
repriced or exchanged without shareholder approval. Options granted
under the 2002 and 2005 Plans become exercisable after a minimum of
one year after the date of grant and have a maximum duration of ten years.
As of April 2005, the 1995 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee
Directors (the 1995 Plan) was terminated, as of March 2001, the 1996
Praxair, Inc. Performance Incentive Plan (the 1996 Plan) was
terminated and at December 31, 2001, the 1992 Praxair Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the 1992 Plan) expired. The 1995 Plan provided
for an annual grant of non-qualified stock options to each nonemployee director. The 1996 Plan and the 1992 Plan provided for
granting nonqualified or incentive stock options, stock grants,
performance awards, and other stock-related incentives for key
employees. The exercise price for all incentive stock options granted
under the terminated plans was equal to the closing price of Praxair’s
common stock on the date of the grant. Options that were granted
under these plans became exercisable only after one or more years after
the date of grant and the option term was no more than ten years.
The following table summarizes the changes in outstanding
shares under option and performance share equivalents for 2005, 2004,
and 2003 (options are expressed in thousands):
ACTIVITY

OPTIONS

WEIGHTED AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICE

Outstanding at December 31, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

25,790
3,967
(7,052)
(251)

$
$
$
$

Outstanding at December 31, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

22,454
3,945
(4,757)

$ 23.52
$ 36.67
$ 21.75

(109)

$ 26.18

Outstanding at December 31, 2004
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

21,533
3,998
(3,775)
(112)

Outstanding at December 31, 2005

21,644

$30.04

13,985
14,205

$ 22.10
$ 23.29

13,825

$25.05

Exercisable at
December 31, 2003
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2005

$
$
$
$

22.18
26.46
20.16
26.08

26.29
44.32
23.55
37.96

The following table summarizes information about options
outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2005 (options are
expressed in thousands; averages are calculated on a weighted basis;
life in years):
OUTSTANDING

EXERCISABLE

AVERAGE
REMAINING
LIFE

NUMBER
OF
OPTIONS

AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE

NUMBER
OF
OPTIONS

AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE

$16.66 - $22.01
$22.06 - $26.43
$26.54 - $36.58
$37.01 - $49.54

4.3
5.7
7.0
9.1

5,117
5,260
7,218
4,049

$20.71
$25.17
$32.28
$44.18

5,117
4,014
4,694
—

$20.71
$24.78
$30.01
—

$16.66 - $49.54

6.4

21,644

$30.04

13,825

$25.05

RANGE OF
EXERCISE PRICES

18. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
PENSIONS – Praxair has two main U.S. retirement programs which are
non-contributory defined benefit plans: the Praxair Pension Plan and
the CBI Pension Plan. The latter program benefits primarily former
employees of CBI Industries, Inc. which Praxair acquired in 1996.
Effective July 1, 2002, the Praxair Pension Plan was amended to give
participating employees a one-time choice to remain covered by the
old formula or to elect coverage under a new formula. The old formula
is based predominantly on years of service, age and compensation levels
prior to retirement, while the new formula provides for an annual
contribution to an individual account which grows with interest each
year at a predetermined rate. Also, this new formula applies to all
new employees hired into businesses adopting this plan. U.S. pension
plan assets are comprised of a diversified mix of investments, including
domestic and international corporate equities, government securities
and corporate debt securities. In addition, Praxair has several plans
that provide supplementary retirement benefits primarily to higher
level employees that are unfunded and are nonqualified for federal tax
purposes. Pension coverage for employees of certain of Praxair’s
international subsidiaries generally is provided by those companies
through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are primarily
provided for through diversified investment portfolios, with some
smaller plans provided for under insurance policies or by book reserves.
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Praxair’s U.S. packaged gases business has a defined contribution
plan. Company contributions to this plan are calculated as a percentage
of salary based on age plus service. Praxair’s U.S. healthcare business
sponsors a defined contribution plan which provides for a matching
contribution as well as a company contribution that is not dependent
on employee contributions. In both plans, U.S. employees may
supplement the company contributions up to the maximum allowable
by IRS regulations. Certain international subsidiaries of the company
also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are
determined under various formulas. The cost for these defined
contribution plans was $11 million in 2005, $9 million in 2004,
and $8 million in 2003 (not included in the tables that follow).
U.S. employees other than those in the packaged gases and
healthcare businesses are eligible to participate in a defined
contribution savings plan. Employees may contribute up to 40%
of their compensation, subject to the maximum allowable by IRS
regulations. Company contributions to this plan are calculated on a
graduated scale based on employee contributions to the plan. The cost
for this plan was $13 million in 2005 and $12 million both in 2004
and 2003 (the cost is not included in the tables that follow).

Praxair provides
health care and life insurance benefits to certain eligible retired
employees. These benefits are provided through various insurance
companies and healthcare providers. Praxair is also obligated to make
payments for a portion of postretirement benefits related to retirees of
Praxair’s former parent. Additionally, as part of the CBI acquisition in
1996, Praxair assumed responsibility for healthcare and life insurance
benefit obligations for CBI’s retired employees. All postretirement
healthcare programs have cost caps that limit the company’s exposure
to future cost increases. In addition, as part of the election made for
July 1, 2002, all current employees were given the choice of
maintaining coverage in retirement under the current plan, or to
move to a plan whereby coverage would be provided, but with no
Praxair subsidy whatsoever. Also, all new employees hired into a
business adopting these plans will not receive a company subsidy.
Praxair does not currently fund its postretirement benefits obligations.
Praxair retiree plans may be changed or terminated by Praxair at any
time for any reason with no liability to current or future retirees.
Praxair uses a measurement date of December 31 for the majority
of its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) –

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

The components of net pension and OPEB costs for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are shown below:
(Millions of dollars)

PENSIONS

OPEB

2005

2004

2003

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Net amortization and deferral

$ 35
91
(102)
20

$ 33
85
(91)
10

$ 30
79
(82)
(1)

$6
16
—
(1)

$6
16
—
(3)

$6
18
—
(5)

Net periodic benefit cost

$ 44

$ 37

$ 26

$21

$19

$19

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004

2003

NET BENEFIT COST
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The changes in projected benefit obligation (PBO) and plan assets and the funded status reconciliation as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 for
Praxair’s significant pension and OPEB programs are shown below:
PENSIONS

2005

(Millions of dollars)

2004

U.S.

INTL

Benefit obligation, January 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Participant contributions
Actuarial loss (gain) (a)
Benefits paid
Curtailment/settlement (gain)
Acquisition
Currency translation

$1,118
24
66
—
91
(57)
—
—
—

$ 387
11
25
—
21
(21)
(1)
4
(9)

Benefit obligation, December 31

$1,242

Fair value of plan assets, January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid (funded plans only)
Currency translation
F air value of plan assets, December 31

OPEB
INTL

2005

2004

$ 994
23
63
—
83
(45)
—
—
—

$ 318
11
22

$ 276
6
16

$ 265
6
16
8
7
(29)
—
—
3

$ 417

$ 1,118

$ 387

$ 265

$ 276

$ 781
62
129
(43)
—

$ 366
44
11
(21)
1

$ 644
66
110
(39)
—

$ 319
24
9
(17)
31

$ —
—
—
—
—

$ —
—
—
—
—

$ 929

$ 401

$ 781

$ 366

$ —

$ —

Funded status, December 31
Unrecognized (gains) losses-net
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized transition amount

$ (313)
374
(4)
—

$ (16)
41
3
1

$ (337)
293
(5)
—

$ (21)
40
3
1

$(265)
25
2
—

$ (276)
35
—
—

Net amount recognized, December 31

$

57

$ 29

$

(49)

$ 23

$(238)

$ (241)

Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Intangible assets
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

$

—
(238)
—
295

$ 81
(72)
—
20

$

—
(272)
—

$ 72
(68)
1

$ —
(241)
—

223

18

$ —
(238)
—
—

Net amount recognized, December 31

$

57

$ 29

$

(49)

$ 23

$(238)

$ (241)

$1,242
$1,167
$ 929

$ 269
$ 229
$ 157

$ 1,118
$ 1,053
$ 781

$ 246
$ 210
$ 142

N/A
N/A
N/A

$ 72
$1,167

$ 2
$ 376

$ 76
$ 1,053

$ 13
$ 352

$ —
N/A

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

U.S.

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION (PBO)

1
23
(17)
(1)
—
30

7

(11)
(31)
—
—
2

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

FUNDED STATUS RECONCILIATION

AMOUNTS IN THE BALANCE SHEET

—

PENSION PLANS WITH AN ACCUMULATED BENEFIT
OBLIGATION IN EXCESS OF PLAN ASSETS

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO)
Fair value of plan assets

N/A
N/A
N/A

OTHER INFORMATION

Increase/(decrease) in minimum liability
included in other comprehensive income
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO)
(a)

$

—
N/A

The 2005 U.S. amount was due primarily to an update to the mortality assumption and a decrease in the discount rate assumption.

61

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
PENSIONS
U.S.

2005

INTL
2004

2005

OPEB
2004

2005

2004

WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AT DECEMBER 31,

Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation levels

5.62%
3.25%

5.85%
3.00%

5.45%
3.00%

5.50%
3.00%

5.62%
N/A

5.85%
N/A

5.85%
3.00%
8.50%

6.25%
3.25%
8.50%

5.35%
3.00%
7.75%

6.00%
3.25%
7.75%

5.85%
N/A
N/A

6.25%
N/A
N/A

WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE NET
PERIODIC BENEFIT COST FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (a)
(a)

For 2006, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 8.25% for the U.S. plans. Expected weighted average returns for international plans will vary. These rates are determined annually by management based on a weighted
average of current and historical market trends, historical and expected portfolio performance and the current and expected portfolio mix of investments.

OPEB
ASSUMED HEALTHCARE COST TREND RATES AT DECEMBER 31,

Healthcare cost trend assumed
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate)
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

2006

Medicare Modernization Act of 2003
2005

10.00%

9.00%

5.00%
2010

5.00%
2008

These healthcare-cost trend rate assumptions have an impact on
the amounts reported. However, cost caps limit the impact on the net
OPEB benefit cost in the U.S. To illustrate the effect, a one-percentage
point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the
following effects:
ONE-PERCENTAGE POINT
(Millions of dollars)

Effect on the total of service and interest cost components
of net OPEB benefit cost
Effect on OPEB benefit obligation
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INCREASE

DECREASE

$ 1
$10

$ (1)
$ (10)

The Medicare Modernization Act of 2003 established a prescription
drug benefit under Medicare, known as “Medicare Part D,” and a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that
provide prescription drug benefits that are at least actuarially
equivalent to those available under Medicare Part D. In late January
2005, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) released
the regulations for implementing the act. Based on these regulations
and subsequent guidance provided by CMS, the company believes
the prescription drug benefits provided to certain participants will be
at least actuarially equivalent to those available under Medicare Part D
and, accordingly, the company will be entitled to a subsidy.
Accordingly, the plan obligations have been remeasured, incorporating
the effects of the subsidy retroactively to January 1, 2005, resulting
in a reduction of $2 million to its OPEB costs for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and a reduction of $22 million to its OPEB
obligation at December 31, 2005.
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Pension Plan Assets

Praxair’s U.S. and international pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the target allocation for
2006, by asset category are as follows:
U.S.
ASSET CATEGORY

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other (b)

TARGET
(a)

(a)

Equity securities do not include any Praxair common stock.

(b)

Primarily consists of cash equivalents and short-term investments.

INTL

2005

60% – 80%
20% – 40%
0%
0%

The investments of the U.S. pension plan are managed to
meet the future expected benefit liabilities of the plan over the long
term by investing in diversified portfolios consistent with prudent
diversification and historical and expected capital market returns.
When Praxair became an independent, publicly traded company in
1992, its former parent retained all liabilities for its term-vested and
retired employees. Praxair’s plan received assets and retained pension
liabilities for its own active employee base. Therefore, the liabilities
under the Praxair U.S. pension plan mature at a later date compared
to pension funds of other similar companies. Investment strategies
are reviewed by the board of directors and investment performance
is tracked against appropriate benchmarks.
The international pension plans are managed individually
based on diversified investment portfolios, with different target asset
allocations that vary for each plan.
Contributions

Pension contributions were $140 million in 2005 and $119 million in
2004. Estimates of 2006 contributions are $100 million, of which $12
million is required. During January 2006, contributions of $84 million
were paid to Praxair’s U.S. Pension Plans.

2004

70%
30%
0%
0%

2005

TARGET

43%
55%
1%
1%

66%
33%
0%
1%

2004

47%
51%
1%
1%

44%
54%
1%
1%

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments, net of
participant contributions:
(Millions of dollars)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011 – 2015

PENSIONS

OPEB

U.S.

INTL

TOTAL
PAYMENTS

$ 59
$ 60
$ 63
$ 67
$ 70
$413

$ 22
$ 18
$ 16
$ 18
$ 17
$101

$22
$23
$22
$22
$22
$97

MEDICARE
SUBSIDY

NET
PAYMENTS

$ (3)
$ (2)
$ (2)
$ (2)
$ (2)
$(14)

$19
$21
$20
$20
$20
$83

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The company accrues liabilities for contingencies when management
believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated. In the event any losses are sustained in excess of these
accruals, they will be charged to income at that time. Commitments
represent obligations such as those for future purchases of goods or
services that are not yet recorded on the company’s balance sheet as
liabilities. The company records liabilities for commitments when
incurred (e.g. when the goods or services are received).
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Praxair is subject to various lawsuits and government
investigations from time to time. These actions are based upon
alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury claims,
among others. While Praxair may incur a loss in connection with
some of these actions, management does not anticipate that they
will have a material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows in any
given year.
Among such matters are claims brought by welders alleging
that exposure to manganese contained in welding fumes caused
neurological injury. Praxair has never manufactured welding
consumables. Such products were manufactured prior to 1985 by
a predecessor company of Praxair. As of December 31, 2005, Praxair
was a co-defendant with many other companies in 1,869 lawsuits
alleging personal injury caused by manganese contained in welding
fumes. There were a total of 8,635 individual claimants in these cases.
The cases were pending in state or federal courts in Alabama, Arkansas,
California, Georgia, Illinois, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri,
New Jersey, Ohio, Tennessee, Texas, Utah and West Virginia.
The federal cases are being transferred to the U.S. District Court for
the Northern District of Ohio for coordinated pretrial proceedings.
The plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory and, in most instances,
punitive damages. Eight of the cases are proposed class actions seeking
medical monitoring on behalf of welders. None of the class actions have
been certified. In the past, Praxair has either been dismissed from the
cases with no payment or has settled a few cases for nominal amounts.
Praxair has strong defenses in these cases and intends to defend
itself vigorously.
The following table sets forth Praxair’s material commitments
and contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005 excluding debt,
leases, OPEB and long-term pension obligations which are summarized
elsewhere in the financial statements (see Notes 5, 13 and 18):
(Millions of dollars)

EXPIRING THROUGH
DECEMBER 31,

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
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UNCONDITIONAL
PURCHASE
OBLIGATIONS

CONSTRUCTION
COMMITMENTS

GUARANTEES
AND OTHER

$160
111
97
75
53
318

$456
118
22
—
—
—

$67
—
2
—
—
5

$814

$596

$74

Unconditional purchase obligations of $814 million represent
contractual commitments under various long- and short-term, takeor-pay arrangements with suppliers and are not included on Praxair’s
balance sheet. These obligations are primarily minimum purchase
commitments for helium, electricity, natural gas and feedstock used to
produce atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide and hydrogen. During 2005,
payments under these contracts totaled $562 million, including $237
million for electricity and $218 million for natural gas. A significant
portion of these risks is passed on to customers through similar takeor-pay contractual arrangements. Purchase obligations which are not
passed along to customers do not represent a significant risk to Praxair.
In addition, Praxair enters into contracts to purchase products and
services that do not have minimum purchase provisions.
Construction commitments of $596 million represent
outstanding commitments to customers or suppliers to complete
authorized construction projects as of December 31, 2005. A significant
portion of Praxair’s capital spending is related to the construction of
new production facilities to satisfy customer commitments which may
take a year or more to complete.
Guarantees and other of $74 million include $12 million related
to required minimum pension contributions and $62 million related
to Praxair’s contingent obligations under guarantees of certain debt
of unconsolidated affiliates. Unconsolidated equity investees had total
debt of approximately $215 million at December 31, 2005, which was
non-recourse to Praxair with the exception of the guaranteed portions
described above. Praxair has no financing arrangements with closelyheld related parties.
At December 31, 2005, Praxair had undrawn outstanding
letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds of $419 million
from financial institutions. These related primarily to customer
contract performance guarantees (including plant construction in
connection with certain on-site contracts), self-insurance and other
commercial and governmental requirements.

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

20. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)
2005

1Q

2Q

3Q (a)

4Q

YEAR

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit
Income before cumulative effect of
changein accounting principle
Cumulative effect of changein accounting principle (b)

$1,827
$1,109
$ 162
$ 309

$1,919
$1,167
$ 163
$ 322

$1,890
$1,144
$ 165
$ 317

$2,020
$1,221
$ 175
$ 345

$7,656
$4,641
$ 665
$1,293

$ 195
—

$ 209
—

$ 108
—

$ 220
(6)

$ 732
(6)

Net income

$ 195

$ 209

$ 108

$ 214

$ 726

Income before cumulative effect of
changein accounting principle
Cumulative effect of changein accounting principle (b)

$ 0.60
—

$ 0.65
—

$ 0.33
—

$ 0.68
(0.02)

$ 2.26
(0.02)

Net income

$ 0.60

$ 0.65

$ 0.33

$ 0.66

$ 2.24

323,818

323,898

324,137

323,207

323,765

Income before cumulative effect of
changein accounting principle
Cumulative effect of changein accounting principle (b)

$ 0.59
—

$ 0.63
—

$ 0.33
—

$ 0.67
(0.02)

$ 2.22
(0.02)

Net income

$ 0.59

$ 0.63

$ 0.33

$ 0.65

$ 2.20

Weighted average shares (000’s)

329,669

329,818

329,993

329,113

329,685

1Q

2Q

3Q

4Q

YEAR

$ 1,531
$ 908
$ 139
$ 260

$ 1,603
$ 966
$ 140
$ 274

$ 1,674
$ 1,019
$ 145
$ 280

$ 1,786
$ 1,094
$ 154
$ 289

$ 6,594
$ 3,987
$ 578
$ 1,103

$

$

$

$

$

BASIC PER SHARE DATA

Weighted average shares (000’s)
DILUTED PER SHARE DATA

2004

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit
Net income

164

175

177

181

697

BASIC PER SHARE DATA

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)

$ 0.50
326,394

$ 0.54
325,786

$ 0.54
326,447

$ 0.56
324,936

$ 2.14
325,891

$ 0.49
331,573

$ 0.53
330,897

$ 0.53
331,919

$ 0.55
330,851

$ 2.10
331,403

DILUTED PER SHARE DATA

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)
(a)

The third quarter 2005 includes an income tax charge of $92 million, or $0.28 per diluted share, for the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax adjustments (see Note 7).

(b)

Related to the adoption of FIN 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (see Note 2).
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Management’s Statement of Responsibility for Financial Statements
Praxair’s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management,
which is responsible for their fairness, integrity and objectivity.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America applied on a consistent basis, except for
accounting changes as disclosed, and include amounts that are
estimates and judgments. All historical financial information in this
annual report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements.
Praxair maintains accounting systems, including internal
accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors, that are
designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial
records and the protection of assets. The concept of reasonable assurance
is based on recognition that the cost of a system should not exceed the
related benefits. The effectiveness of those systems depends primarily
upon the careful selection of financial and other managers, clear
delegation of authority and assignment of accountability, inculcation
of high business ethics and conflict-of-interest standards, policies and
procedures for coordinating the management of corporate resources, and
the leadership and commitment of top management. In compliance with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Praxair assessed its
internal control over financial reporting and issued a report (see below).
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, has completed an integrated audit of Praxair’s 2005
consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and audits of its 2004
and 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) as stated in their report appearing on page 67.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists
solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for overseeing the
functioning of the accounting system and related controls and the
preparation of annual financial statements. The Audit Committee
periodically meets with management, internal auditors and the
independent accountants to review and evaluate their accounting,
auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilities,
including management’s assessment of internal control over financial
reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm and
internal auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee
and meet with the committee, with and without management present.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Praxair’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including the company’s
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the company
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (often referred to as COSO).
Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December
31, 2005.
Praxair’s evaluation did not include the internal control over
financial reporting related to the Constar LLC acquisition consummated
on December 31, 2005. Total sales and assets for the acquisition
represents 0.0% and 0.3%, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31,
2005 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements on page 48).
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005
has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing
on page 67.

DENNIS H. REILLEY

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

JAMES S. SAWYER

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

PATRICK M. CLARK

Vice President and Controller

Danbury, Connecticut
February 28, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF PRAXAIR, INC:

We have completed integrated audits of Praxair Inc.’s 2005 and 2004
consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and an audit of its 2003
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.
Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity
and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Praxair Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Praxair, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing on page 66 of the 2005 Annual Report to Shareholders,
that the company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),
is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over
financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinions.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
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As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Constar LLC
from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2005 because it was acquired by the company in a
purchase business combination during 2005. We have also excluded
Constar LLC from our audit of internal control over financial
reporting. Constar LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total
assets and total revenues represent 0.3% and 0.0%, respectively, of
the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Stamford, Connecticut
February 28, 2006

Five-Year Financial Summary
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(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

2005 (a)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2004

2003

2001 (b)

2002

FROM THE INCOME STATEMENT

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Other income (expenses) – net

$ 7,656
4,641
987
665
80
10

$ 6,594
3,987
869
578
77
20

$ 5,613
3,328
766
517
75
(5)

$ 5,128
2,950
751
483
69
48

$ 5,158
3,060
699
499
66
(34)

Operating profit
Interest expense – net

1,293
163

1,103
155

922
151

923
206

800
224

Income before taxes
Income taxes

1,130
376

948
232

771
174

717
158

576
135

Minority interests
Income from equity investments

754
(37)
15

716
(30)
11

597
(24)
12

559
(20)
9

441
(18)
9

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (c)

732
(6)

697
—

585
—

548
(139)

432
(2)

Net income
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax

726
—

697
—

585
—

409
—

430
33

726

$ 697

$ 585

$ 409

$

463

$ 2.26
$ 2.24
$ 2.24

$ 2.14
$ 2.14
$ 2.14

$ 1.79
$ 1.79
$ 1.79

$ 1.68
$ 1.26
$ 1.26

$
$
$

1.34
1.33
1.43

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

1.32
1.31
1.41
0.34

Net income excluding goodwill amortization (d)
PER SHARE DATA

$

(e)

Basic earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income
Net income excluding goodwill amortization (d)
Diluted earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income
Net income excluding goodwill amortization (d)
Cash dividends per share

2.22
2.20
2.20
0.72

2.10
2.10
2.10
0.60

1.77
1.77
1.77
0.46

1.66
1.24
1.24
0.38

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING (000’S) (e)

Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding

323,765
329,685

325,891
331,403

326,388
330,991

325,536
329,489

323,020
327,014

$ 3,447
$ 921
$ 1,475
$10,491
21.9%
13.2%
45.6%
322,339
27,306

$ 3,525
$ 1,597
$ 1,243
$ 9,878
20.8%
12.5%
47.9%
323,621
27,020

$ 2,816
$ 1,056
$ 1,137
$ 8,305
21.6%
12.8%
46.2%
326,086
25,438

$ 2,748
$ 611
$ 1,001
$ 7,401
22.8%
13.4%
52.3%
324,536
25,010

$ 2,989
$
808
$ 1,020
$ 7,715
21.6%
12.7%
53.1%
324,286
24,271

OTHER INFORMATION AND RATIOS

Total debt
Capital expenditures and acquisitions (f)
Cash flow from operations
Total assets at year end
Return on equity (g)
After-tax return on capital (g)
Debt-to-capital ratio (g)
Shares outstanding at year-end (000’s) (e)
Number of employees

Amounts include a $92 million income tax charge recorded in the 2005 third quarter related to the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax adjustments (see Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements).
Operating profit includes a $70 million pre-tax charge ($57 million after tax, or $0.17 per diluted share) related to restructuring and other actions (shown $7 million in cost of sales; $5 million in selling, general and administrative
expenses; and $58 million in other income (expense) – net).
(c)
2005, 2002 and 2001 net income include the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles relating to the implementation of new accounting standards for asset retirement obligations, goodwill impairment and derivatives,
respectively.
(d)
Amounts exclude amortization of goodwill prior to 2002.
(e)
Per share data, weighted average and total shares outstanding have been adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split which was effected as a stock dividend (see Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements).
(f)
Capital expenditures and acquisitions for 2004 include the acquisition of HCS in June for $245 million and the German acquisition in December for $667 million (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements). Capital expenditures
and acquisitions for 2003 include the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).
(g)
Non-GAAP measure. See the Appendix on page 70 for definitions and reconciliation to reported amounts.
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(a)

(b)

Appendix
The company presents the following non-GAAP financial measures on
pages 2, 38-40 and 69 of this annual report:

Return on Equity

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

After-tax return
on capital
Return on equity
Debt-to-capital

13.2%
21.9%
45.6%

12.5%
20.8%
47.9%

12.8%
21.6%
46.2%

13.4%
22.8%
52.3%

12.7%
21.6%
53.1%

Return on equity is defined as income before changes in accounting
principles, excluding special items and goodwill amortization, divided
by average shareholders’ equity. Praxair’s definition of return on equity
may not be comparable to similar definitions used by other companies.
The company believes that its return on equity is an appropriate
measure for judging performance for shareholders.
(Dollar amounts in millions)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

After-Tax Return on Capital

After-tax return on capital is defined as after-tax operating profit plus
income from equity investments, divided by average capital, and
excluding special items. Capital is comprised of total debt, minority
interests, shareholders’ equity and preferred stock. Praxair’s definition of
after-tax return on capital may not be comparable to similar definitions
used by other companies. The company believes that its after-tax return
on invested capital is an appropriate measure for judging performance
as it reflects the approximate after-tax profit earned as a percentage of
investments by all parties in the business (debt, minority interests,
preferred stock, and shareholders’ equity).
(Dollar amounts in millions)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Adjusted operating
profit (a)
Less: adjusted taxes (b)
Less: tax benefit on
interest expense (c)
Add back:
equity income
Net operating profit
after tax (NOPAT)
Beginning capital
Ending capital (d)
Average capital
After-tax return
on capital (d,e)

2005

2004

2003

2002

70

(a)

2004

2003

2002

2001

$ 824

$ 697

$ 585

$ 548

$ 522

$3,608

$ 3,088

$ 2,340

$ 2,477

$ 2,357

$3,902

$ 3,608

$ 3,088

$ 2,340

$ 2,477

$3,755
21.9%

$ 3,348
20.8%

$ 2,714
21.6%

$ 2,409
22.8%

$ 2,417
21.6%

Reported income before changes in accounting principles for 2005 of $732 million has been adjusted to $824
million for the add-back of a $92 million income tax charge for the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax adjustments (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements). Reported income before changes in accounting priciples for 2001 of $432 million has been adjusted
to $522 million for the add-back of $33 million of goodwill amortization and $57 million relating to restructuring
and repositioning charges, net of their related tax impact (see the Five Year Financial Summary on page 69).

2001

Debt-to-Capital Ratio
$1,293
(284)

$ 1,103
(232)

$ 922
(174)

$ 923
(158)

$ 908
(153)

(42)

(39)

(36)

(46)

(50)

15

11

12

9

9

$ 982

$ 843

$ 724

$ 728

$ 714

$7,358
$7,551
$7,455

$ 6,099
$ 7,358
$ 6,729

$ 5,252
$ 6,099
$ 5,676

$ 5,627
$ 5,252
$ 5,440

$ 5,656
$ 5,627
$ 5,642

13.2%

12.5%

12.8%

13.4%

12.7%

Reported operating profit for 2001 of $800 million has been adjusted to $908 million for the add-back of $38
million of goodwill amortization and $70 million relating to restructuring and repositioning charges. See the FiveYear Financial Summary on page 69.
(b)
Reported taxes for 2005 of $376 million has been adjusted to $284 million from the add-back of a $92 million tax
charge for the repatriation of foreign earnings pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and other tax
adjustments (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements). Reported taxes for 2001 has been adjusted to
exclude the tax benefit on goodwill amortization ($5 million) and the tax benefit relating to restructuring and
reposition charges ($13 million).
(c)
Tax benefit on interest expense is computed using the effective rate adjusted for non-recurring income tax benefits and
charges. The effective rates used were as follows: 2005, 26%; 2004, 25%; 2003, 24%; 2002, 22%; and 2001, 22%.
(d)
2003 ending capital includes the impact of the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements). Consequently, after-tax return on capital was reduced by 0.4% for 2003
and 0.8% thereafter.
(e)
After-tax return on capital was reduced by 0.6% in 2004 due to the German acquisition in December (see Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements).
(a)

Adjusted income before
change in accounting
principle (a)
Beginning shareholders’
equity
Ending shareholders’
equity
Average shareholders’
equity
Return on equity

2005

Debt-to-capital ratio is defined as debt divided by total capital.
Total capital consists of debt, minority interests, preferred stock
and shareholders’ equity. Praxair’s definition of debt-to-capital may
not be comparable to similar definitions used by other companies.
The company believes that debt-to-capital is appropriate for
measuring its financial leverage.
(Dollar amounts in millions)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Total capital
Debt
Minority interests
Preferred stock
Shareholders’ equity

Debt-to-capital ratio

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

$3,447
202
—
3,902

$ 3,525
225
—
3,608

$ 2,816
195
—
3,088

$ 2,748
164
—
2,340

$ 2,989
141
20
2,477

$7,551

$ 7,358

$ 6,099

$ 5,252

$ 5,627

45.6%

47.9%

46.2%

52.3%

53.1%

Investor Information

Praxair Inc. and Subsidiaries

Elizabeth T. Hirsch, Director, Investor Relations
Praxair, Inc.
39 Old Ridgebury Road
Danbury, Connecticut 06810-5113
e-mail: investor_relations@praxair.com
(203) 837-2210

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

INVESTOR INFORMATION AT WWW.PRAXAIR.COM/INVESTORS

COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE LISTING STANDARDS

Contact information
Stock information
Business trends
Presentations
Annual reports
Quarterly earnings
Guidance

As required by New York Stock Exchange rules, on May 10, 2005 the
company submitted to the NYSE an unqualified CEO annual certification
of compliance with NYSE’s Corporate Governance Listing Standards.
Praxair expects to do so again within 30 days after the annual meeting
of shareholders.
Praxair has also filed with its annual report on Form 10-K
for 2005 the CEO and CFO certifications (regarding the quality
of the company’s financial statements and its disclosure controls
and procedures) required by §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (as implemented by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).

Praxair provides investors a convenient, low-cost program that
allows purchases of Praxair stock without commissions and
automatically reinvests dividends by purchasing additional
shares of stock. Contact Investor Relations at Registrar and
Transfer Company for full details at the address above.

SEC filings
Governance
Sustainability Report
FAQs
Five-year financials
Financial news

COMMON STOCK LISTING (SYMBOL: PX)

New York Stock Exchange
OTHER STOCK EXCHANGES TRADING PRAXAIR STOCK

Cincinnati
Midwest
Pacific

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING

The 2006 annual meeting of shareholders of Praxair, Inc. will be
held at 9:30 a.m. on Tuesday, April 25, 2006 at the Sheraton Danbury,
18 Old Ridgebury Road, Danbury, Connecticut.

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

There were 21,399 shareholders of record as of December 31, 2005.

NYSE QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION

Stock prices and dividends have been restated to reflect the
December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split (see Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividends on Praxair’s common stock are usually declared and paid
quarterly. Praxair’s objective is to continue quarterly dividends and
consider annual dividend increases in conjunction with continued
growth in earnings per share.

Market Price

Trading
High

Trading
Low

Close

Dividend
per Share

$ 48.50
$ 49.42
$ 51.74
$ 54.31

$ 41.06
$ 43.48
$ 44.55
$ 45.80

$ 47.86
$ 46.60
$ 47.93
$ 52.96

$
$
$
$

0.18
0.18
0.18
0.18

$ 38.76
$ 40.14
$ 43.03
$ 46.25

$ 34.52
$ 34.80
$ 37.59
$ 40.73

$ 37.12
$ 39.91
$ 42.74
$ 44.15

$
$
$
$

0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15

$ 30.07
$ 31.95
$ 32.90
$ 38.26

$ 25.02
$ 27.95
$ 29.34
$ 31.15

$ 28.18
$ 30.05
$ 30.98
$ 38.20

$0.1075
$0.1075
$0.1075
$0.1350

2005

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT AND STOCK RECORD KEEPING

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Registrar and Transfer Company is Praxair’s stock transfer agent and
registrar, and maintains shareholder records. For information about
account records, stock certificates, change of address and dividend
payments, contact: 1-800-368-5948
e-mail address for investor inquiries: info@rtco.com
website address: http://www.rtco.com

2004

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Address shareholder inquiries to:

2003

Shareholder Relations Department
Registrar and Transfer Company
10 Commerce Drive
Cranford, NJ 07016

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

©

Praxair and the flowing airstream design, AOD, CoJet, UpTime, StarSolver, I-SO, MixFlo, Grab ‘n Go and Medipure
are trademarks or registered trademarks of Praxair Technology, Inc. in the United States and/or other countries.
2006 Praxair Technology, Inc. All rights reserved.
DESIGN: SVP Partners, Wilton, CT | PHOTOGRAPHY: Ted Kawalerski, NY (except pages 10 and 11)
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Leadership
OFFICE OF THE CHAIRMAN

SALLY A. SAVOIA

North America – Packaged Gases

Vice President, Human Resources
DENNIS H. REILLEY

S. MARK SEYMOUR

PATRICK M. HEFFERNAN

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Vice President, Tax

Vice President, Canada

STEPHEN F. ANGEL

ROBERT S. VRUGGINK

President & Chief Operating Officer

President, Praxair Surface Technologies

RICARDO S. MALFITANO

WAYNE J. YAKICH

Executive Vice President

President, Praxair Distribution, Inc.

MARCOS L. BARRETO

JAMES S. SAWYER

DANIEL H. YANKOWSKI

Vice President, On-Site Business

Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Vice President, Global Supply Systems

JOSE BORTOLETO

South America

Executive Director, Base Business-Sao Paulo
OFFICERS

FUNCTIONAL & REGIONAL MANAGEMENT

ANTONIO CESAR

Vice President, Base Business
MICHAEL J. ALLAN

HOWARD D. BRODBECK

EDUARDO DAVILA

Vice President & Treasurer

Vice President, Global Procurement &

Executive Director, Industrial

JAMES T. BREEDLOVE

Materials Management

MURILO MELO

Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary

RICHARD P. KENNY

Vice President, Hispanic Countries

M. MELISSA BUCKWALTER

Vice President, Global Operations Excellence

LUIZ OLIVEIRA

Vice President, Financial Services &

JEFFREY P. STANDISH

Vice President, Operations

Chief Information Officer

Vice President, Global Sales

DOMINGOS H.G. BULUS

RICHARD L. STEINSEIFER

President, Praxair South America &

Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions

President, White Martins Gases Industriais Ltda.
PATRICK M. CLARK

Europe
MIGUEL MARTINEZ ASTOLA

North America – Industrial Gases

Vice President & Controller

Managing Director, Spain, Portugal & France
EDUARDO GIL

MURRAY G. COVELLO

KEVIN C. FOTI

Managing Director, Praxair Germany & Benelux

President, Praxair Asia

Vice President, North U.S.

FRANCO MAZZALI

JAMES J. FUCHS

MARK F. GRUNINGER

Managing Director, Italy & Middle East

President, North American Industrial Gases &

Vice President, South U.S.

President, Praxair Canada Inc.

SCOTT W. KALTRIDER

RANDY S. KRAMER

Vice President, West U.S.

President, Praxair Europe

THEODORE F. TRUMPP III

DAVID H. CHOW

STEVEN L. LERNER

Vice President, East U.S.

President, Praxair China

Senior Vice President & Chief Technology Officer

SCOTT K. SANDERUDE

K.H. LEE

SUNIL MATTOO

Vice President, Marketing

President, Praxair Korea

Vice President, Strategic Planning & Marketing

ROBERT HOSSACK

JOHN M. PANIKAR

NIGEL D. MUIR

Managing Director, Praxair Canada

Managing Director, Praxair India

Vice President, Communications &

EDUARDO F. MENEZES

KITTI PRAPASUCHART

Public Relations

Managing Director, Praxair Mexico

Managing Director, Praxair Thailand

GEORGE P. RISTEVSKI

Vice President, Healthcare
RAYMOND P. ROBERGE

President, Praxair Electronics
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Asia

Board of Directors

CLOCKWISE
FROM LOWER LEFT

CLAIRE W. GARGALLI

G. JACKSON RATCLIFFE, JR.

Former Vice Chairman, Diversified Search Companies
Finance & Pension (Chairman); Compensation &
Management Development Committees

Former Chairman, Hubbell Incorporated
Finance & Pension Committee
H. MITCHELL WATSON, JR.

ROBERT L. WOOD

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Chemtura Corporation
Audit; Governance & Nominating Committees

Former President, Sigma Group of America
Audit (Chairman); Governance & Nominating Committees
DENNIS H. REILLEY

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, Praxair, Inc.
RONALD L. KUEHN, JR.

Chairman, El Paso Corporation
Compensation & Management Development (Chairman);
Audit Committees

IRA D. HALL

WAYNE T. SMITH

RAYMOND W. LEBOEUF

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer,
Community Health Systems, Inc.
Governance & Nominating (Chairman); Compensation &
Management Development Committees

Former Chairman & Chief Executive Officer,
PPG Industries, Inc.
Executive Session Presiding Director. Audit;
Compensation & Management Development Committees

JOSÉ PAULO DE OLIVEIRA ALVES

Consultant; former Chief Executive Officer,
CSN LLC U.S.A.
Finance & Pension; Governance & Nominating Committees

Senior Advisor to Utendahl Capital Management, L.P.
Finance & Pension; Governance & Nominating Committees

